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VOLUME | of II}
AFFIDAVIT OF RUSSELL FRENCH
(affirmed March 8, 2024)
| make oath and give evidence as follows:
1. | am the Managing Director, Special Situations of Fiera Private Debt GP Inc. (‘Fiera GP”),

the general partner of Fiera Private Debt Fund Il LP (“Fund III") and Fiera Private Debt Fund V
LP (“Fund V" and together with Fund lll, the “Lenders”). The Lenders are the senior secured
creditors of the Compa_nies (defined below). | have held this position with the Lenders since April

26, 2021.

2. | have personal knowledge of the evidence affirmed in this affidavit except where

otherwise stated to be based on information and belief.




3. | state, in this affidavit, the source of any information that is not based on my own personal

knowledge, and | state my belief of the source.

4, This affidavit is affirmed in support of the application by the Lenders for an initial order
pursuant to the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) (the “CCAA”) in respect of
Saltwire Network Inc. (“Saltwire”), The Halifax Herald Limited (“The Herald”), Headline
Promotional Products Limited (“Headline”), Titan Security & Investigation Inc. (“Titan”), Brace
Capital Limited (“Brace Capital”) and Brace Holdings Limited (“Brace Holdings” and collectively,

the “Companies”).

. BACKGROUND

5. As set out in more detail below, each of The Herald and Saltwire (collectively, the
“‘Borrowers”) have outstanding credit facilities with Fund Il (the “Herald Credit Facility”) and
Fund V (the “Saltwire Credit Facility” and with the Herald Credit Facility, the “Credit Facilities”).
As of March 4, 2024, the outstanding amounts (exclusive of fees and interest, both of which
continue to accrue) under the Credit Facilities totaled $32,735,094 (plus $588,772 of accrued and
outstanding payment-in-kind (“PIK”) interest) consisting of: (a) The Herald: $8,236,551 (plus

$150,592 of PIK interest); and (b) Saltwire: $24,498,543 (plus $438,180 of PIK interest).

6. Each of the Companies is an obligor under the Credit Facilities and has granted certain
security in respect of its obligations. The Companies have signed a consent (the “Consent”) to
the commencement by the Lenders of a receivership or creditor-led proceeding pursuant to the

CCAA. A copy of the signed Consent is attached as Exhibit “A”.

7. As discussed in more detail below, the Borrowers have been in default of their obligations
under their respective Credit Agreements (defined below) for over five years, have made little

progress on the repayment of principal under either of the Credit Facilities and have no path or



timeline for repayment of the Credit Facilities notwithstanding the patience of the Lenders, as
evidenced by the forbearance arrangements extended by the Lenders to the Borrowers. In this
regard, the Lenders have provided significant concessions to the Borrowers over the course of
nine Forbearance Agreements (defined below) including, at various times, waiving strict
compliance with certain covenants, permitting PIK interest for certain amounts, deferring
significant principal payments since mid-2018 and providing multiple extensions to permit the

Borrowers to sell or attempt to sell various real properties and pursue other strategic initiatives.

8. Since October 2023, the Borrowers, through their corporate finance advisor, FTI Capital
Advisors-Canada ULC (“FTI”), have been conducting a Recapitalization Process (defined below).
The Lenders agreed to provide the Borrowers until the end of January 2024 to deliver a letter of
intent acceptable to the Lenders. The Borrowers did not receive any letters of intent before the
end of January 2024, and the Forbearance Period under Amended Forbearance #8 (as both

terms are defined below) expired.

9. In the past several months, the Borrowers have failed to (a) comply with their obligations
under the applicable Forbearance Agreement (defined below), (b) provide timely, complete and
comprehensible financial information to the Lenders’ financial advisor, KSV Advisory Inc. (‘KSV
Advisory”) or to respond on a timely basis (or at all) to KSV Advisory’s questions regarding the
financial information, and (c) cooperate or engage in meaningful discussions as to the Lenders’

concerns about the Borrowers’ business and credit position.

10. The Lenders have lost faith in senior management who have, over the course of the last
several years, mismanaged the business, opted to divert pension funds withheld from employees,
funded working capital with HST instead of remitting it, been uncooperative, provided no solution
for the repayment of the Herald Credit Facility which matured in July 2022 and have no definitive

plan that would provide for the repayment of the Saltwire Credit Facility. The concerns are further



evidenced by senior management’s lack of cooperation with the Lenders regarding these
proceedings, notwithstanding they previously consented to the Lenders to both a receivership or

creditor-led CCAA proceedings.

11. The Forbearance Period has now expired. The Companies are insolvent, cannot pay
their obligations as they come due and are in default of their obligations under the Credit
Agreements. The Borrowers have outstanding HST liabilities of over $7 million (which continue
to accrue), The Herald recently had a court decision issued against it to pay over $2.6 million in
outstanding pension liabilities and, on March 5, 2024, Saltwire had a decision issued against it
requiring it to post $500,000 as security for costs in connection with certain litigation against

Transcontinental (defined below).

12. As noted above, the Companies have provided a Consent to the Lenders for the Lenders

to commence these proceedings.

13. It is crucial to the Lenders that the proposed monitor in this application, KSV
Restructuring Inc. (‘KSV Restructuring” and an affiliate of KSV Advisory, “KSV”) be appointed

as monitor in any CCAA proceedings.

14. Until less than two weeks ago, the Companies were completely resistant to the
suggestion of a restructuring proceeding. Very abruptly, on or about February 27, 2024, the
Lenders were contacted by Mr. David Boyd of Resolve Advisory Services Ltd. (“Resolve”) and a
partner at a large financial advisory services firm to communicate, apparently on behalf of the
Borrowers, that they now believed that CCAA proceedings were warranted and needed to be
commenced imminently, but insisted that their proposed monitor be put forward as monitor and

made other requests for the structure of a CCAA proceeding.

15. I was encouraged that there seemed to be consensus on a restructuring proceeding.



However, | communicated immediately that, while the Lenders were prepared to compromise on

certain issues, others, were non-negotiable.

16. The Lenders remain the primary or only real economic stakeholder of the Borrowers and,
given the Lender’s history with senior management, as set out in its application, the Lenders
require that KSV be the monitor. It was and remains the case that KSV is the financial advisory
firm with the most familiarity of the Borrowers’ business, economic circumstances and issues

affecting the business, having been involved since October 2023.

17. | was hopeful that the Companies would engage in productive discussions to allow for
these proceedings to be commenced in a cooperative manner that addresses the concerns of
both sides. However, as discussed in more detail below, this has not occurred despite multiple
attempts. On March 4, | received a “courtesy call” from Phil Clarke of Grant Thornton Inc. (“GTI”),
who was retained over the weekend of March 2 and advised that the Companies were moving
forward with their own CCAA application and proposing GTI as the Monitor. There were no further
communications from the Borrowers until the Lenders’ counsel, Norton Rose Fulbright Canada
LLP (“NRF”), learned in the afternoon of March 5, 2024 that the Companies had requested a court

hearing.

18. The Borrowers have continued to fail to provide on a timely basis any relevant and
required information that one typically provides to a secured lender in advance of a CCAA
proceeding. Importantly, the Borrowers only provided a first version of a cash flow to the Lenders
in the evening of March 7 (the “Company Proposed Cash Flow”), which is drastically different
from any previous cash flow information provided to the Lenders. As recently as this morning,
the Borrowers did not attend our weekly operational update call, failing to even provide a courtesy
email indicating they would not be attending. The Borrowers’ conduct flies in the face of the patient

support provided by the Lenders since the first Forbearance Agreement in 2018.



19. While GTI is a capable monitor, the Lenders are not supportive of this appointment in
this situation. GTI was appointed less than a week ago and has no familiarity with this situation
whereas KSV has been involved for several months. A clear example is illustrated by the fact
that the Borrowers have used GTI’s “recent engagement” as the stated reason for not providing
a cash flow. Additionally, the Borrowers have already consented to a creditor-led CCAA, and the

appointment of the Monitor is a critical aspect of that application.

20. The Lenders’ CCAA application contemplates a CCAA proceeding that is largely
consistent with the Nova Scotia model order but importantly provides for the appointment of Mr.

David Boyd as Chief Restructuring Officer (‘CRO”) and KSV as monitor.

21. | believe these court appointments will provide much needed oversight over the business,
use of funds and ongoing expenses, which in turn provides the Lenders with the confidence
required to provide debtor-in-possession funding (“DIP Financing”) for these proceedings.
Additionally, the Lenders intend to seek approval of a sale and investment solicitation process
(“SISP”) which will be designed effectively as a continuation of the FTI-led Recapitalization
Process that has been ongoing for several months and will have clear and firm deadlines for the

submission of bids.

22. While it remains open to the Lenders to apply for the appointment of a receiver, the
Lenders believe that it is for the benefit of all stakeholders, including the Companies, for
proceedings under the CCAA to be commenced at this time so that the Recapitalization Process
can continue as that represents the most likely avenue to result in a going concern transaction for

the Borrowers’ business and assets, which is a primary objective of these proceedings.

. THE PARTIES



The Lenders

23. The Lenders, being Fund Il and Fund V, are limited partnership funds which have
invested in a diversified portfolio of private placed fixed rate loans to Canadian midmarket
companies. The investors in Fund Il and Fund V are primarily Canadian pension plans and life
insurance companies. The Lenders are managed by Fiera Private Debt Inc. (“Fiera Private
Debt”), an indirect subsidiary of Fiera Capital Corporation, an independent global asset
management firm. As of December 31, 2023, Fiera Private Debt had over $1.1 billion of assets

under management.

The Companies

24, Each of the Companies are incorporated pursuant to the laws of Nova Scotia. Attached
as Exhibits “B” through “G” hereto are corporate charts and corporate profiles for each of the
Companies. Attached as Exhibits “H” through “P” hereto are copies of each of the Companies’

most recent financial statements.

25. All of the Companies are owned, indirectly by Mark Lever and Sarah Dennis, through
their respective family trusts. Brace Capital is the direct shareholder of Titan and Headline. Brace

Holdings is the direct shareholder of The Herald, Saltwire and Brace Capital.

26. The registered office for each of the Companies (other than The Herald) is 600-1741
Lower Water Street, Halifax, Nova Scotia, B3J 0J2. The registered office of The Herald is 2717
Joseph Howe Drive, Halifax, Nova Scotia, B3J 0J2. Mr. Lever and other members of senior

management are all located in Halifax, Nova Scotia.

Management

27. Mr. Lever is the President and CEO of the Borrowers and has had day-to-day

responsibility for the operations of the Borrowers for the time that the Lenders have had a



relationship with the Borrowers. Ms. Dennis is the President of Headline. Based on the corporate
profiles, Mr. Lever and Ms. Dennis are the directors of each of The Herald, Saltwire, Headline,
Brace Capital and Brace Holdings. Mr. Lever is the sole director of Titan. Mr. Lever is the spouse

of Ms. Dennis.

28. In addition to Mr. Lever, the Borrowers are managed, on a day-to-day basis by Mr. lan
Scott, Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Chace Hynes is the Chief Financial Officer. | understand Mr.
Scott to be a long-standing employee of the Borrowers. Mr. Hynes joined the Borrowers within

the last two years.

lll. THE BUSINESS

Saltwire and The Herald

29. The Borrowers own and operate the largest media and newspaper business in Atlantic
Canada, with titles that include The Chronicle Herald, the Cape Breton Post, The Telegram (St.
John’s) and The Guardian (Charlottetown). The Borrowers offer print and online sources of news

throughout the region.

30. The Borrowers are an important part of Atlantic Canada. The history of The Herald can

be traced back to 1824.

31. As is discussed in more detail below, in 2017, the Companies acquired several publishing
assets from Transcontinental (defined below), which significantly increased the number of the
Companies’ media outlets and for which Fund V provided acquisition financing through the
Saltwire Credit Agreement. The Transcontinental acquisition led to significant allegations of
misrepresentations and gross negligence. Litigation is ongoing between Saltwire and

Transcontinental in this regard.

32. In recent years, Saltwire has commenced a new business platform called “Door Direct”



(the “Door Direct Business”). The Door Direct Business provides parcel delivery services
throughout Atlantic Canada utilizing the Borrowers’ carrier network. The Door Direct Business is

still in its early, development stages and has not to date generated any material revenue.

33. The assets of the Borrowers consist of personal property and equipment related to their
businesses as well as four pieces of real property known as: (a) 311 Bluewater Road, Halifax,
Nova Scotia (the “Bluewater Property”); (b) 36 Austin Street, St. John’s, Newfoundland (“Austin
Street”); (c) 2 Second Street, Yarmouth, Nova Scotia (“Second Street”); and (d) 255 George
Street, Sydney, Nova Scotia (“George Street” and collectively, the “Real Property”). The

Lenders have registered mortgages against each Real Property.

Titan

34. In 2017, Brace Capital acquired Titan, a full services security and health care services
company. | understand that the acquisition decision was made by Mr. Lever during a prolonged
strike at The Herald by CWA Canada employees in order to provide security services during the

strike.

35. Although certain administrative or support functions of Titan may have been integrated
into the Borrowers since the acquisition, | understand Titan to be a standalone business that is
largely unrelated to the business of the Borrowers.

Headline

36. Headline is a promotional products company that procures branded novelty and other
products for corporate buyers. | understand this business to be immaterial within the operations
of the Companies.

Brace Capital and Brace Holdings

37. To my knowledge, Brace Capital and Brace Holdings are holding companies.



Employees

38. To my knowledge, the Borrowers employ over 385 full and part time employees across
Atlantic Canada. They are subject to at least nine collective agreements and maintain multiple
registered pension plans and other benefits plans, including at least one defined contribution plan

and one defined benefits plan.

IV. THE FIERA CREDIT FACILITIES

The Herald Credit Agreement

39. Pursuant to a credit agreement dated as of July 19, 2012 (the “Original Herald Credit
Agreement”) by and among The Herald, as borrower, and G.W.D. Investments Limited
(“G.W.D.”), Brace Capital, Bounty Print Limited (“Bounty”), Brace Properties Limited and Brace
Publishing Limited, as guarantors, and Integrated Private Debt Fund Il LP, by its general partner,
Integrated Private Debt Fund GP Inc. (now Fund Ill and Fiera GP, respectively), Fund Il agreed
to establish certain term loan facilities in favour of The Herald. The original principal amount
under the Original Herald Credit Agreement was $18 million with an original maturity date of July

19, 2022. The outstanding principal was $8,236,551 as of March 4, 2024.

40. The Original Herald Credit Agreement was subsequently amended on June 7, 2013,
December 11, 2013, February 17, 2015, May 5, 2016, April 12, 2017, January 1, 2018 (the “Sixth
Amendment”) and May 14, 2018 (collectively, the “Amendments”), as well as pursuant to the
Forbearance Agreements (defined below). The Original Herald Credit Agreement, the
Amendments, and the Forbearance Agreements (to the extent they amend the Original Herald

Agreement, as amended), are referred to as the “Herald Credit Agreement”).

41. Over the years, the obligors under the Herald Credit Agreement have undergone certain

dispositions and reorganizations which have resulted in amendments and joinders to the Herald
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Credit Agreement. Additionally, when the Lenders became aware in 2022 that Titan had been
acquired in 2017, Titan was added as a guarantor. The current obligors under the Herald Credit
Agreement are: (a) the Companies; (b) G.W.D.; (c) The Mark Lever Family Trust 2017 (the “Lever
Trust”); and (d) the Sarah A. Dennis Family Trust 2009 (the “Dennis Trust”). To my knowledge,
none of these entities have any active business activities although all of them hold shares in one
or more of the Companies (or each other) and may hold intercompany debt claims. Ms. Dennis
is also a personal obligor and has provided a limited recourse guarantee. No enforcement action

against Ms. Dennis personally is being taken at this time.

The Saltwire Credit Agreement

42. Pursuant to a credit agreement dated as of April 12, 2017 (the “Original Saltwire Credit
Agreement”) between Saltwire, as borrower, G.W.D., Bounty, Brace Capital, the Lever Trust, Ms.
Dennis, the Dennis Trust, The Herald and Brace Holdings, as guarantors, and Integrated Private
Debt Fund V LP, by its general partner, Integrated Private Debt Fund GP Inc. (how Fund V and
Fiera GP, respectively), Fund V agreed to establish certain term loan facilities in favour of Saltwire.
The original principal amount under the Original Saltwire Credit Agreement was $31 million. The

outstanding principal was $24,498,543 as of March 4, 2024.

43. The purpose of the loan under the Original Saltwire Credit Agreement was to provide
financing for the acquisition of several commercial printing and publishing businesses by Saltwire
from Transcontinental Nova Scotia Media Group Inc. (“TC Nova Scotia”) and related companies
(collectively, “Transcontinental”). As discussed below, TC Nova Scotia is the holder of a
subordinated vendor take back note in the principal amount of approximately $10 million in

connection with the acquisition of the TC Nova Scotia assets.

44, The Original Saltwire Credit Agreement has been subsequently amended pursuant to

the Forbearance Agreements. The Original Saltwire Credit Agreement, together with the
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Forbearance Agreements (to the extent they amend the Original Saltwire Credit Agreement), are
referred to collectively as the “Saltwire Credit Agreement” and together with the Herald Credit

Agreement, the “Credit Agreements”).

45, The current obligors under the Saltwire Credit Agreement are the same as the obligors

under the Herald Credit Agreement. Copies of the Credit Agreements (without schedules) are

attached as Exhibit “Q-1" and “Q-2".

The Guarantees and Security

46. The current Obligors under the Credit Agreements consist of: (a) the Companies; and (b)
G.W.D. Investments Ltd., the Lever Trust, the Dennis Trust and Ms. Dennis (the “Non-Debtor

Obligors” and together with the Companies, the “Obligors”).

47. A summary of the guarantees and security given by the Companies is as follows:
Entity Name Obligations Security
Saltwire Borrower under the e General Security Agreement
Saltwire Credit

¢ Collateral mortgage in respect of
Austin Street, Second Street

Guarantor under the and George Street

Herald Credit Agreement

Agreement

e Trademark Security Agreement

The Herald Borrower under the e General Security Agreement

Herald Credit Agreement .
g e Collateral Mortgage in respect of

Guarantor under the Bluewater
Saltwire Credit i
Agreement e Trademark Security Agreement

Headline Guarantor under the e General Security Agreement

Credit Agreements :
g e Trademark Security Agreement

Titan Guarantor under the e General Security Agreement
Credit Agreements

Brace Capital | Guarantor under the e General Security Agreement

Credit Agreements
"t A9 e Pledge of Shares

e Trademark Security Agreement
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Brace Holdings | Guarantor under the e Pledge of Shares
Credit Agreements

48. Each of the Non-Debtor Obligors has provided guarantees of the obligations of the
Borrowers under their respective Credit Agreement, as well as a pledge of shares of those other
Obligors in which they hold securities as collateral for those obligations (the “Pledged

Securities”). Recourse against the Non-Debtor Obligors is limited to the Pledged Securities.

49, A full summary of the debt, guarantee and security held by the Lenders in respect of their
Credit Agreements is attached as Exhibit “R”_hereto. Copies of the guarantee and security

documents have not been attached due to volume, but can be made available upon request.

The Forbearance Agreements

50. The Obligors and the Lenders have entered into nine Forbearance Agreements dated

back to February 28 2019, as follows:

@ Original forbearance agreement dated as of February 28, 2019 (“Original

Forbearance”);

(b) Amended and Restated Forbearance Agreement dated as of October 2, 2019

(“Amended Forbearance #17);

(© Second Amended and Restated Forbearance Agreement dated as of May 19,

2020 (“Amended Forbearance #2”);

(d) Third Amended and Restated Forbearance Agreement dated as of November 2,

2020 (“Amended Forbearance #3”);

(e) Fourth Amended and Restated Forbearance Agreement dated as of May 3, 2021

13



51.

(f)

9

(h)

(“Amended Forbearance #4”),

Fifth Amended and Restated Forbearance Agreement dated as of November 12,

2021 (“Amended Forbearance #5”);

Sixth Amended and Restated Forbearance Agreement dated as of dated as of
August 9, 2022 (together with amending agreements No. 1 and No. 2, “Amended

Forbearance #6”);

Seventh Amended and Restated Agreement dated as of January 5, 2023, as
amended by amending letter dated as of June 29, 2023 (“Amended Forbearance

#7);

Eighth Amended and Restated Forbearance Agreement dated as of October 27,
2023 (“Amended Forbearance #8” and collectively with the Original Forbearance

and Amended Forbearances #1-7, collectively, the “Forbearance Agreements”).

Copies of the Forbearance Agreements are attached as Exhibits “S” through “AA”

hereto. The Forbearance Agreements have been partially redacted to redact

compensation information for Mr. Lever and Ms. Dennis.

Pursuant to the Forbearance Agreements, among other things:

(@)

(b)

The Companies acknowledged: (i) the amounts outstanding under the Credit
Agreements; (ii) that they were in default of their obligations under the Credit
Agreements; and (iii) that the security held by the Lenders was valid and

enforceable;

The Companies waived any defences and claims against the Lenders in

connection with the exercise of the Lenders’ rights and remedies under the

14



Forbearance Agreements, the Credit Agreements and the security;

(© The Lenders agreed to forbear against enforcement for specific periods of time

(most recently up to January 31, 2024);

(d) Pursuant to Amended Forbearances #6 and #7, the Companies consented to the
appointment of a receiver or receiver and manager over all of the property, assets
and undertaking and agreed to provide full cooperation and assistance to the

Lenders in the enforcement of their remedies; and

(e) In connection with Amended Forbearance #8, the Companies signed the Consent,
consenting to, among other things, a creditor-led CCAA proceeding, which

Consent is now released pursuant to the terms of Amended Forbearance #8.

52. The Companies have failed to comply with several of their obligations under the

Forbearance Agreements, which are discussed in greater detail below.

Demand Letters and NITES

53. The Lenders originally sent demand letters and notices of intention to enforce security
(“NITES”) pursuant to Section 244 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (“BIA”) in connection

with Amended Forbearance #6 (the “Original Demands”).

54, In connection with Amended Forbearance #8, the Lenders sent refreshed demand letters
along with refreshed NITES to all of the Obligors (the “Refreshed Demands and NITES”). Copies

of the Refreshed Demands and NITES are attached as Exhibit “BB” hereto.

55. Additionally, in connection with Amended Forbearance #8, each of the Obligors provided
a signed Consent whereby they consented to the enforcement by the Lenders of their security

including, the appointment of a receiver or the commencement of creditor-led proceedings
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pursuant to the CCAA (attached as Exhibit “A”), The Consent was held in escrow by NRF, the
Lenders’ lawyers, and could be used and relied upon by the Lenders at any point after the

expiration of the Forbearance Period.

V. OTHER DEBT OBLIGATIONS

Transcontinental

56. As set out above, the loan provided to Saltwire by Fund V was to provide acquisition
financing for the purchase by Saltwire of several of Transcontinental’s commercial printing and
publishing businesses across Atlantic Canada. Pursuant to the terms of the acquisition, Saltwire
issued to Transcontinental a vendor take back note (the “VTB Note”) in the amount of
approximately $10 million pursuant to which Saltwire was to pay the amounts owing under the
VTB Note in three annual installments on the first, second and third anniversaries of the closing

date of the transaction.

57. To my knowledge, no payments were ever made on account of the VTB Note. The
Borrowers’ most recent annual financial statements, reviewed by KPMG LLP, state that the VTB

Note is an unsecured obligation of Saltwire.

58. In connection with the VTB Note, Transcontinental entered into a subordination
agreement dated as of April 12, 2017 (the “TC Subordination Agreement”) with the Lenders,
pursuant to which the parties agreed, among other things, that the amounts owing to it under the
VTB Note were fully subordinated and subject to the right of prior payment of all indebtedness
and liability of Saltwire and The Herald to the Lenders, whether currently existing or thereafter

incurred. A copy of the TC Subordination Agreement is attached as Exhibit “CC” hereto.

59. In 2019, Saltwire commenced litigation against Transcontinental, alleging, among other

things, that Transcontinental (i) had overstated its revenues and made other misrepresentations
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in connection with the acquisition, (ii) was grossly negligent in carrying out its duties under the
transition services agreement and (iii) failed to complete certain environmental undertakings. In

response, Transcontinental issued a counterclaim against Saltwire.

60. On January 24, 2024, the Court heard a motion for security for costs brought by
Transcontinental. The motion was opposed by Saltwire on the basis of affidavit evidence (the
“Affidavit Evidence”) it filed which, among other things, implies that Saltwire was solvent and in
compliance with the terms of its forbearance agreement. On March 5, 2024, the Court issued its
decision granting Transcontinental’s motion and Saltwire was ordered to pay $500,000 as security
for costs no later than April 30, 2024. A copy of the Affidavit Evidence and the Court’s decision

is attached as Exhibit “DD” hereto.

Canada Revenue Agency

61. Both Saltwire and The Herald have significant liabilities to the Canada Revenue Agency
(“CRA”) in respect of collected and unremitted HST. According to information provided by the
CRA as of January 2, 2024, the outstanding balances owing in respect of HST are: (a) Saltwire:
$2,340,392; and (b) The Herald: $4,715,654. This is prior to of any refundable tax credits
available pursuant to the Canadian Journalism Labour Tax Credit program and for which the

Borrowers may have accrued on their balance sheets.

62. Based on personal property registry searches conducted in Nova Scotia, CRA has
outstanding PPSA registrations against: (a) Saltwire, registered on December 5, 2019; (b) The
Herald, registered on January 10, 2020.

Pension Liabilities

63. The Companies maintain a series of pension and benefits plans including, one defined

benefit plan (the “Herald DB Plan”) and a defined contribution plan (the “Saltwire DC Plan”).
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The most recent actuarial valuation report prepared by Eckler dated August 2022 (the “DB Plan
Valuation Report”) states that the Herald DB Plan had 426 active employees and retiree
members of The Herald as of December 31, 2022. The Borrowers have advised that

approximately 164 Saltwire employees and retirees who participate in the Saltwire DC Plan.

64. Based on the DB Plan Valuation Report, upon a wind up, the Herald DB Plan has a
significant solvency deficiency of approximately $7 million. Additionally, on February 8, 2024, the
Supreme Court of Nova Scotia (the “Court”) issued a decision (the “Pension Decision”)
upholding a decision by the Nova Scotia Labour Board, confirming that The Herald was liable for
significant outstanding special payments that it had not made in 2018 and 2019 of over $2.6
million. In the Court’s decision, Justice Norton notes: (a) not only did The Herald not make the
special payments, opting instead to use the funds to “pivot to digital operations’; (b) it lied to its
employees, telling them that it was in fact making those payments. Attached as Exhibit EE hereto

is a copy of the Pension Decision.

65. On January 9, 2024, the trustee of the CWA/ITU Pension Plan, which | understand to be
a multi-employer pension plan for the benefit of employees associated with one or more of the
unions with whom the Borrowers have a collective agreement, filed a notice of application against
The Herald, alleging that The Herald failed to make several payments under the CWA/ITU
Pension Plan that it had withheld from its employees (and presumably used instead for other
expenses) and requesting payment of $70,000. The Herald has advised that this payment was

subsequently made.

66. The Borrowers have, at other times, withheld funds from its employees in respect of their
pensions but failed to remit those amounts — instead using the employees monies to fund the
Borrowers’ operations in part evidenced in note 3 of the Company Proposed Cash Flow which

indicates arrears owing of over $465,000 in respect of pension and benefit contributions.
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Equipment Leases

67. Based on the personal property searches conducted against the Companies in Nova
Scotia, Newfoundland, Prince Edward Island and New Brunswick, it also appears that the
Companies lease several vehicles and certain office equipment. Copies of the PPSA searches

conducted are attached as Exhibit “FF” hereto.

Other Liabilities

68. | understand that the Pre-Filing Report (defined below) will contain additional information

with respect to other liabilities of the Companies (to the extent known).

VI. DEFAULTS AND EVENTS LEADING UP TO THIS APPLICATION

Defaults

69. Even prior to the entering into of the Original Forbearance Agreement, various defaults

had been committed by the Borrowers dating back to December 2017.

70. The Companies have been in default of several of their obligations under the Credit
Agreements and the Forbearance Agreements for the past five years. Certain of the more

material Events of Default can be summarized as follows:

(a) Failure or inability to repay any principal amounts owing to the Lenders. In this
regard, from May 2018 to September 2020, the Lenders consented to the deferral
of principal payments, and the only payment received was on the sale of assets
related to Bounty in January 2020. From October 2022, the Lenders again
consented to the deferral of principal payments, and the only payments received
were on the sale of a real property located on Columbus Drive in St. John’s,
Newfoundland in December 2023 and the reimbursement of Sarah Dennis’

renumeration overpayment (which was an immaterial amount). In summary, over
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(€)

(f)

9

(h)

()

(k)

the last five years, the Borrowers have only made approximately 1/3 of their regular
monthly principal payments. Cumulatively, since inception of the loans, the

principal payments totaling more than $26 million have been deferred;

Failure to pay the minimum prepayment set out in the Amended Forbearance #5,

the Amended Forbearance #6 and the Amended Forbearance #7;

Failure to remit HST, on a timely basis, resulting in a significant HST obligation,

now totaling over $7 million;

Failure to remit, on a timely basis, employee obligations that are deducted from

employees’ pay cheques, including pension amounts;

Failure to remit, on a timely basis, payments to employee benefit providers;

Paying compensation to certain members of senior management in excess of the

prescribed limits;

Acquiring a corporation, namely Titan, without the knowledge or prior consent of
the Lenders (as set out above the Lenders only learned of the acquisition in 2022

through the CSO);

Failure to complete a sale of Austin Street, George Street and the Bluewater

Property as required under the Amended Forbearance #6;

Failure to provide information requested on a timely basis, or at all;

Failure to engage with their Lenders on a prompt and responsible manner;

Failure to provide required reporting since January 2024; and
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)] Failure to maintain their trailing twelve-month EBITDA of not less than $5 million.

71. In addition to the above, the Companies have been unable to execute on the many
“strategic initiatives” that they have proposed under the Forbearance Agreements. The
Borrowers’ initiatives have largely focused on attracting new investors or buyers and the listing of
various real property owned by the Companies and subject to the Lenders’ security. Mr. Lever
has met with or had discussions with various parties; however, those discussions were never
successful nor did they ever proceed beyond preliminary stages. To date, three of the four of the
Companies’ remaining Real Properties are listed for sale but not sold. The Herald has been

unwilling to list the Bluewater Property despite the obligation to do so.

72. In connection with Amended Forbearance #6, in August 2022, the Borrowers agreed to
retain Mr. David Boyd as a “chief strategy officer” (“CSQ”) to assist with, among other things the
Borrowers’ strategic initiatives. Also under the Amended Forbearance #6, the Lenders, at their
option, were entitled to cause the Borrowers to retain an “operational consultant”. From August
2022 to October 2023, no progress was made on the Borrowers’ strategic initiatives. Although
the Lenders subsequently requested that the Borrowers retain the occupational consultant that

the Lenders’ proposed, the Borrowers objected and refused to cooperate with that request.

Amended Forbearance #8

73. Amended Forbearance #7 expired in July 2023. At that time, the Borrowers had been
unable to attract any potential investors or partners and required access to a corporate finance
team to solicit interest in their business. The Borrowers were also continuing to actively resist
listing the Bluewater Property for sale. Further, while initially agreeing to a process for the sale of
Titan the Borrowers change their minds at the last minute, despite the fact that it remained largely
a standalone business, and the Lenders expressed their desire that these assets be marketed for

sale. By this time, the Lenders had largely lost confidence in management and, specifically, Mr.
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Lever. Mr. Lever, however, continued to resist any changes in management and delayed

negotiating further terms of forbearance.

74. Ultimately, in October 2023, certain terms on the next Forbearance Agreement were
agreed to. The Lenders agreed that Mr. Lever could retain his position as President and CEO for
the Forbearance Period while the Borrowers undertook a renewed recapitalization process (the
“‘Recapitalization Process”), which was to be conducted by FTI. | was hopeful that FTI would be
successful in attracting a potential investor or buyer for The Herald and Saltwire. Amended
Forbearance #8 provided that at least one letter of intent (“LOI”) acceptable to the Lenders had
to be received by the expiration of the forbearance period, being January 31, 2024 (the

“Forbearance Period”). Two other crucial terms of Amended Forbearance #8 were:

@) the acknowledgement by the Companies that the Lenders had retained KSV
Advisory as their financial advisor and the Companies’ agreement that they would

cooperate with KSV Advisory and provide information requested by them; and

(b) the signed Consent, which was to be held in escrow by NRF pending the expiration

of the Forbearance Period.

75. The Consent was particularly crucial given the accommodations being provided by the
Lenders for the additional time and to allow Mr. Lever to remain in his position. The Consent
meant that upon the expiration of Amended Forbearance #8 or a termination event thereunder,
the Lenders could commence enforcement proceedings with the consent of the Companies as
opposed to incurring the significant cost of potentially contested proceedings. The contemplated

enforcement proceedings included a creditor-led CCAA proceeding.

The Expiration of the Forbearance Period

76. Throughout November, December and January, | participated in weekly calls with FTI to
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receive updates on the Recapitalization Process.

77. During that time, the Borrowers were already in default of various of their obligations
under Amended Forbearance #8. On December 15, 2023, the Lenders sent a default notice (the
“‘Default Notice”) to the Companies. Although the Companies replied on December 20, 2023
disputing various of the defaults, they provided no further evidence to substantiate their
disagreements. Ultimately, as we did not see the point in continuing a “back and forth letter writing
campaign”, the Lenders sent a short reply on December 21, 2023. Copies of the Default Notice

and subsequent replies are attached as Exhibit “GG” hereto.

78. By the expiration of the Forbearance Period, no LOIs had been received.

79. Instead, the Borrowers requested an additional extension to continue the

Recapitalization Process.

80. While the Lenders were prepared to provide the Borrowers with some additional time for
FTI to continue the Recapitalization Process, the Lenders’ view was that there needed to be a
resolution one way or the other at the end of that period and that a road map was required to
resolve the present situation. The Lenders thus proposed that any extension of the Forbearance
Period was contingent upon the Borrowers agreeing to cooperate with the planning of and
preparation for a creditor-led CCAA proceeding (to which the Borrowers had previously consented

pursuant to the Consent).

81. On February 12, 2024, NRF provided a proposed draft ninth amended and restated
forbearance agreement (“Proposed Forbearance #9”) to counsel for the Companies, which
outlined the proposed forbearance extension, as well as a roadmap for the planning and
preparation of CCAA proceedings at the end of the process. As of the date of Proposed

Forbearance #9, no LOI at all had been submitted in the Recapitalization Process.
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82. Over the following days, there was further discussion during which time, Mr. Lever
remained resistant to the prospect of a CCAA filing (notwithstanding his prior consent), as well as
to several other proposed terms in the Proposed Forbearance #9 (several of which were not new
terms and had been agreed upon in prior Forbearance Agreements), which led to a further revised

version of Proposed Forbearance #9 being sent by NRF to the Borrowers on February 15, 2024.

83. The Borrowers provided no response to the February 15 draft of the Proposed
Forbearance #9 for a week. On February 22, 2024, the Borrower’s counsel, Sadira Jan of Stewart
McKelvey provided a formal response indicating the Companies were not prepared to sign the
Proposed Forbearance #9 and indicated that further concessions were required by the Lenders
including in respect of certain reserves and fees (which had been previously agreed upon in earlier

Forbearance Agreements). A copy of Ms. Jan’s email is attached as Exhibit “HH” hereto.

84. This response was deeply disappointing, unacceptable and inconsistent with the prior
agreements and arrangements to which the Borrowers had previously agreed. On the evening
of February 22, 2024, FTI also provided a proposed draft and highly conditional LOI from an
interested party (the “Draft LOI”). Given the proposed continuation of the Recapitalization
Process, details with respect to the Draft LOI cannot be disclosed. However, the Draft LOI, as it
was presented, was not acceptable to the Lenders without significant further investigation and
work. As presently contemplated, the Draft LOI does not provide a framewaork for an acceptable

transaction.

85. On February 26, 2024, Jennifer Stam of NRF, responded to Ms. Jan’s email on behalf
the Lenders with a request to the Borrowers to reconsider their position. As of the date of this
Affidavit, no formal response has been provided to Ms. Stam’s email. Instead, through a series of
calls and other communications, advisors for the Borrowers communicated with me directly and

indicated that the Borrowers had determined that CCAA proceedings were indeed warranted, but
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they objected to a number of the proposals by the Lenders and, namely (a) whether the
proceedings would be “debtor-led” or “lender-led” and (b) KSV as the proposed monitor. The
Borrowers also proposed that Mr. David Boyd would act as the CRO in the proceedings. For the
first time, the Companies also indicated that they required funding immediately and thus required
a filing in the very short term. This was a surprise to me as none of the previous cash flow
information provided to the Lenders and KSV projected an imminent cash crisis. In fact, the
closing cash balanced reflected in the updated weekly cash flow forecast provided by Mr. Hynes
to the Lenders on March 4, 2024 indicates the Borrowers do not require any additional financing
through to May 24, 2024. Copies of the March 4 weekly cash flow and cover email are attached

as Exhibit “II” hereto.

86. I, along with NRF, attempted to make progress on the terms proposed by the Companies.
Although the Lenders were prepared to consider certain of their proposals, including the
appointment of Mr. Boyd as CRO, the Lenders were not and are not prepared to consent to a
proceeding in which KSV is not appointed as the Court-appointed monitor given the significant
experience KSV has gained since being retained, including dealing with FTI concerning the
Recapitalization Process and its oversight of the Borrowers’ financial situation and reporting
(which is complicated). The Lenders were also not prepared to agree to a proceeding in which
Mr. Lever remained in full control of the Business without significant operational oversight by, at

the very least, the CRO, if not also the Monitor.

87. After a number of communications, we were advised that the Borrowers would provide
their position by March 1, 2024. Despite our multiple attempts to engage and communicate with
the Borrowers’ advisors and their legal counsel, no response or position was communicated until
March 4, when Mr. Clarke of GTI advised me that the Borrowers’ intended to proceed with a

“debtor-led” CCAA proceeding with GTI as the proposed monitor.
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88. The Lenders believe this matter needs to move forward into a filing so that imminently
required DIP Financing can be provided, the endless delay and lack of response is resolved and
there is a Court supervised process pursuant to which stakeholders may seek the relief they
require. There have been only minimal and mostly informal discussions that have taken place
between myself and Mr. Boyd. Earlier this week, the Lenders were advised, indirectly through
communication with GTI, that the Companies also intended to proceed with a CCAA application.
Other than the most basic communications on schedule, there has been virtually no attempt by
the Companies to settle any of the remaining issues, provide cooperation or coordinate in any

meaningful way.

89. Perhaps most fundamentally, the Lenders have continued to request cash flow
information to assess the Companies’ view of their liquidity position. No information was provided
until, on the evening of March 7, a draft was provided for the first time. The Company Proposed
Cash Flow is significantly different from any prior cash flow information provided and it has been
impossible for the Lenders and KSV to fully assess it and its underlying assumptions in less than
24 hours. The Pre-Filing Report (defined below) includes initial comments and observations with
respect to the Company Proposed Cash Flow and KSV’s intentions with respect to reconciliation

if appointed as Monitor.

VII. FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANIES

90. | understand that KSV, in its capacity as the proposed monitor, will be filing a pre-filing
report (the “Pre-Filing Report”) which outlines the financial position of the Borrowers, as well as
additional information regarding the other Companies, whose businesses are relatively de minimis
compared to the Borrowers. Each of the Companies has provided a full guarantee of all of the

obligations under the Credit Facilities and cannot repay such amounts.

VIII. NEED FOR INSOLVENCY PROCEEDINGS
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91. The financial position of the Borrowers has been deteriorating for several years — this is
due in part to the clear and very widely acknowledged distressed state of the media and publishing
industry. In fact, there have been several recent media insolvency filings, including Metroland

Media Group Ltd. and Black Press Ltd.

92. However, the causes of the Companies’ financial difficulties stem far beyond industry or
regional challenges, and, absent a restructuring, | do not believe there will be any viable solution

for the Companies.

93. The Companies are insolvent. They have outstanding obligations well over the $5 million
minimum requirement. The Companies require a formal insolvency proceeding so that an orderly

and formal SISP may be conducted for their businesses and assets.

94. For the purposes of the this Application, the Lenders have agreed to make $500,000 of
interim financing available, which accords with the Companies’ own indication of financing
required for the first 10 days of these proceedings. To my knowledge, the Companies have no
other potential source of interim financing committed. The Lenders are not prepared to provide
this funding unless its application (and not the Companies) is successful including the
appointment of its proposed monitor (KSV). The Lenders are not prepared to consent to any

proposed priming interim financing if proposed by the Companies.

IX. REQUESTED RELIEF — PROPOSED INITIAL ORDER

95. As a result of the above, the Lenders are requesting a proposed initial order (the

“Proposed Initial Order”) for the below relief.

Stay of Proceedings

96. The Lenders are requesting a stay of proceedings (the “Stay”) in respect of the

Companies and their property up to and including a date that is not more than 10 days from the
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date of the Proposed Initial Order. The granting of the Stay will provide the Companies, their
businesses, the CRO and the Monitor with a stabilized environment to pursue one or more

transactions in the Recapitalization Process.

Appointment of Monitor

97. KSV has consented to act as the Court-appointed Monitor (in such capacity, the
“Proposed Monitor”) in these CCAA proceedings, subject to Court approval. As discussed
above, KSV was retained as the Lenders’ financial advisor in October 2023. The KSV
engagement letter expressly provides that if it is appointed as court officer in any proceeding, its

engagement with the Lenders terminates immediately prior to its appointment.

98. Since it was retained, KSV has become familiar with the Companies and their

businesses. KSV has prepared the Pre-Filing Report.

99. KSV is a trustee within the meaning of section 2 of the BIA. | am advised by Bobby
Kofman, President of KSV, that the Pre-Filing Report will set out additional information regarding
the proposed proceeding and their qualifications, including confirmation that KSV is not restricted

from acting as Monitor as a result of section 11.7(2) of the CCAA.

100. KSV is based in Toronto, Ontario. However, it has experience in most provinces across
Canada spanning many industries. The Lenders have confidence that KSV has the qualifications
and expertise to act as the court-appointed monitor in these proceedings and that they will

complement the regional experience and expertise that Mr. Boyd provides, in his role as CRO.

Appointment of CRO

101. As set out above, the Borrowers previously proposed Mr. David Boyd, a representative
of Resolved Advisory Services Ltd.,, as CRO. As set out above, Mr. Boyd was previously

appointed as CSO of the Companies and was in that role from August 2022 and is familiar with
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the Borrowers and their businesses. | am also familiar with Mr. Boyd and know him to be an
experienced restructuring professional in the Atlantic Provinces. The Lenders are supportive of
Mr. Boyd’s appointment as CRO. A copy of the proposed CRO engagement letter is attached as
Exhibit “JJ” hereto. Mr. Boyd has indicated he is prepared to act as CRO if appointed pursuant

to the Lenders’ application.

Directors and Officers

102. During the restructuring process, the Lenders anticipate that the assistance of certain of
the directors and officers of the Companies may continue to be required. | am aware that in most
CCAA proceedings, it is customary to request an indemnity and charge in favour of the directors
(the “Directors’ Charge”) for obligations to them for acting in such capacity that arise post-filing
given that, in certain circumstances, directors can be held liable for certain obligations of a

company owing to employees and government entities.

103. The Proposed Initial Order contemplates the establishment of the Directors’ Charge in
the amount of $1.075 million to protect the directors and officers against obligations and liabilities
they may incur as directors and officers of the Companies after the commencement of the CCAA
proceedings, except to the extent that the obligation or liability is incurred as a result of the
directors’ or officers’ gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Directors’ Charge was
calculated by KSV with reference to (a) the payroll and withholding obligations of the Companies;
and (b) vacation pay. It may be necessary to revisit the amount of the Directors’ Charge at the

Comeback Hearing. KSV will determine this, if appointed Monitor.

104. | understand that Brace Holdings maintains certain directors and officers’ insurance that
may cover the liabilities of its subsidiaries, including the Companies. The Directors’ Charge would
only apply to the extent that coverage was not available. However, if the insurance was insufficient

to cover any liabilities, the Companies are unlikely to have sufficient funds available to satisfy any
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contractual indemnities to the directors or officers should the directors or officers need to call upon

those indemnities.

105. | understand that the Proposed Monitor has considered the proposed amount of the

Directors’ Charge and is supportive of the same.

Interim Financing

106. Based on the Company Proposed Cash Flow, it appears that the Companies will require
interim financing ("DIP Financing") to finance working capital and restructuring costs in these
CCAA proceedings. As set out above and in the Pre-Filing Report, upon its appointment, the
Proposed Monitor intends to immediately engage with the Companies and the CRO to assess the
Company Proposed Cash Flow, which contains material differences from all previous cash flow

information provided by the Companies including as it relates to assumptions around revenue. .

107. Notwithstanding the uncertainty around the Proposed Company Cash Flow, the Lenders
are prepared to provide DIP Financing to the Companies in these CCAA proceedings. As an
initial advance, the Lenders are prepared to immediately enter into a DIP term sheet (“Proposed
Interim Financing Term Sheet”) substantially in the form attached as Exhibit “KK”_to provide up

to $500,000 of funding on the terms set out therein.

108. The material terms of the Proposed Interim Financing Term Sheet are as follows:

Description

Borrowers The Halifax Herald Limited and Saltwire
Network Inc.

Lender Headline Promotional Products Limited,

Titan Security & Investigation Inc., Brace
Capital Limited and Brace Holdings Limited

DIP Facility A senior secured super-priority, interim, non-
revolving multiple draw credit facility (the
“Interim Facility”) up to a maximum
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Description

principal amount of $500,000.

Permitted Uses

To fund:
(a) certain restructuring costs;
(b) the Commitment Fee

(c) operating costs in accordance with the
Budget

Interest

8.00%

Fees

Commitment fee of $5,000 (1.00%)

Costs and
Expenses

Fees of the DIP Lender as outlined in the
Interim Financing Term Sheet including
related legal fees.

Security

Super Priority Interim Financing Charge,
subject to the Administration Charge and
any valid and enforceable purchase money
security interests or true leases for
equipment leased from third parties who
have not received notice of the application.

Maturity

The earlier of:

(&) demand upon the occurrence of an
Event of Default;

(b) date of termination of the stay or
conversion of the CCAA proceedings to
bankruptcy or receivership;

(c) date on which substantially all of the
collateral has been sold; and

(d) 6 months

Conditions
Precedent to the
Initial Advance and
Subsequent
Advances

Conditions precedent to the Initial Advance
include customary conditions for interim
financing facilities, including approval of the
Proposed Interim Financing Term Sheet,
granting of the Initial Order and no
outstanding Event of Default (defined
below).

Conditions precedent to advances after
March 22, 2024 include the granting of an
amended and restated initial order (“ARIO”).

Events of Default

Events of default include events of default
customary for DIP facilities and including:

(a) failure to pay any amounts owing under
the Interim Financing Term Sheet;
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Description

(b) the Borrowers deviate from the Budget
(other than a permitted variance); and

(c) the seeking or support by the Borrowers
of any Court order (in the CCAA
proceedings or otherwise) to which the
Interim Lender, in its sole discretion,
does not consent, including, without
limitation any proposed CRO other than
Resolve and any proposed Monitor
other than KSV.

109. The DIP Financing is contingent, among other things, upon the granting of a priority
charge over the assets, property and undertaking of the Companies in favour of the Lenders,

which will rank subordinate to the Administration Charge but in priority to the Directors’ Charge.

110. The maximum amount being proposed under the Proposed Interim Financing Term
Sheet is $500,000. Although | expect that the amount of DIP Financing required for these
proceedings will increase, given the lack of cooperation from the Companies with respect to cash
flow, this initial amount is being proposed primarily as a “stop-gap” measure for any immediate

funding prior to the Comeback.

Administration Charge

111. The Lenders are proposing an administration charge (the “Administration Charge”) in
the initial maximum amount of $300,000 to be granted over the Companies’ property to secure
payment of the fees and expenses of the Monitor, its counsel, the Lenders’ counsel and the CRO.
The Lenders have not included any provision for the fees of counsel for the Companies or
protection for such fees pursuant to the Administration Charge given, among other things, the fact
that it appears that the majority of the current fees relate to bringing a competing CCAA application
which is contrary to the Consent provided by the Companies, and the Lenders do not believe that

such fees should be funded by their collateral. However, the Lenders recognize that there may
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be a productive and accretive role for the Companies’ counsel to play in this restructuring and are
prepared to consider amendments to accommodate for a reasonable amount of such fees in

connection with the Comeback Hearing.

112. The expertise and participation of the proposed beneficiaries of the Administration

Charge are crucial to the completion of these proceedings.

113. The Lenders and the Proposed Monitor are of the view that the amount of the
Administration Charge is reasonable and appropriate as the professional fees have either
received no or nominal retainers and they anticipate incurring fees during the initial ten-day period

of the CCAA proceedings.

Priority of Proposed Charges

114. The proposed ranking of the Court-ordered charges as amongst themselves (the

“Charges”) is as follows:

(@) First, the Administration Charge (up to a maximum of $300,000);

(b) Second, the DIP Lender’s Charge; and

(c) Third, the Directors’ Charge (up to a maximum of $1.075 million).

115. The proposed Charges shall constitute super-priority charges ranking in priority to all
other existing liens, encumbrances, charges or security interests on any of the assets, property
or undertaking of the Companies other than those parties that have equipment financing or

equipment leases with the Companies and who have not been provided notice of the Application.

116. Based on the PPSA searches conducted by the Lenders (and previously attached as
Exhibit “FE”), in addition to the Lenders, the following parties have PPSA registrations against

one or more of the Companies:
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(a) The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD”);

(b) De Lage Landen Financial Services Canada Inc.;

(c) CISCO Systems Capital Corporation;

(d) Wells Fargo Equipment Finance Company;

(e) LBEL Inc.;

(f) The Queen in Right of Canada as Represented by the Minister of National Revenue

Nova Scotia Tax Services Office (“‘CRA”);

(g) Xerox Canada Ltd.;

(h) Hyundai Capital Lease Inc.;

() Kia Finance; and

() The Bank of Nova Scaotia.

117. The credit facilities with TD were repaid a number of years ago. To my knowledge, TD
has no outstanding debt. The remainder of the PPSA registrations (with the exception
of CRA) appear to relate to specific equipment leases or equipment financing. The
obligations owing to CRA are discussed above. | understand that CRA has been or will

be given notice of this application.

Anticipated Relief on Comeback

118. In the event that the Proposed Initial Order is granted, the Lenders propose to return to

this Court for a comeback motion (the “Comeback Hearing”) on or before March 22, 2024.

1109. At the Comeback Hearing, the Lenders intend to seek the Court’s approval of, among
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other things, an amended and restated initial order and charging order which may include, among

other things:
(a) An extension of the Stay;
(b) An increase in the Administration Charge;
(c) Amendments to the Directors’ Charge;

(d) Amendments to the DIP Facility;

(e) An enhancement to the CRO’s and Monitor's powers and authorizations; and

(f) Approval of a sale investment and solicitation process (“SISP”) to be conducted by

FTI.

X. CONCLUSION

120. For the reasons set out above, | believe that the granting of the commencement of the
CCAA proceedings and the granting of the Proposed Initial Order is in the best interest of the

Companies and their stakeholders generally. | affirm this affidavit in support of this Application

and for no other improper purpose.

AFFIRMED by Russell French at the City of ( f
Toronto, in the Province of Ontario, before | | |
me on March 8§, 2024. / /

I| f
@% e "LM, ,}fl""’“{_ '
Commissioner for Taking Affidavits " Russell French
(or as may be)

Brittany DiTrani
Bomser
Lok 875 33K
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SCHEDULE “B”
ENFORCEMENT CONSENT

TO: FIERA PRIVATE DEBT FUND lIl LP, by its sole general partner FIERA
PRIVATE DEBT FUND GP INC. (“Fund Ill") and FIERA PRIVATE DEBT FUND V LP, by its
sole general partner FIERA PRIVATE DEBT FUND GP INC. (“Fund V" and together with Fund
ll, the “Lenders”)

AND TO: their solicitors, Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP

THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED, SALTWIRE NETWORK INC., G.W.D.
INVESTMENTS LIMITED, BRACE CAPITAL LIMITED, BRACE HOLDINGS LIMITED,
HEADLINE PROMOTIONAL PRODUCTS LIMITED, THE MARK LEVER FAMILY TRUST
2017, TITAN SECURITY & INVESTIGATION INC., SARAH A. DENNIS FAMILY TRUST 2009
and SARAH DENNIS hereby consent to: (i) the immediate appointment by the Lender of a private
receiver or receiver and manager in respect of the Debtors’ assets, property and undertaking and any and
all of the Debtors’ books and records (collectively, the Assets); (ii) the immediate appointment by Court
Order of an interim receiver, receiver or receiver and manager of the Assets pursuant to subsections
47(1) and 243(1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act and any applicable provincial legislation; and/or
(iii) the commencement of creditor-led proceedings pursuant to the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement
Act.

DATED as ofthe  day of , 2023.

THE HALIF HERALD LIMITED SALTWIRE NET)NORK INC.

Per: QA , Per: Ce
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Title:

HEADLINE PRQMOTIONAL PRODUCTS LIMITED BRACE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Name: “—— Qe Loun
Title:

SARAH A. DENNIS FAMILY TRUST (2009)

Name:
Title: Trustee

WITNESS:
Name:
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TITAN SECURITY & INVESTIGATION INC.

Per:
% ) / e
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Title:
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Registry of Joint Stock Companies

Profile Report

Entity details

Information as of 04 March 2024

Registry ID 3306133

Business/Organization Name SALTWIRE NETWORK INC.

Incorporation Date 22 March 2017

Annual Return due Date 31 March 2024

Type Limited Company

Status Active

Registered Office 600-1741 LOWER WATER STREET, HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA, B3J 0J2, CANADA
Mailing Address P.O. BOX 997, HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA, B3J 2X2, CANADA

Directors and Officers

Name Position
MARK LEVER Director
MARK LEVER President
SARAH DENNIS Director
SARAH DENNIS SECRETARY
Recognized Agent

Name Position

LAWRENCE J. STORDY Recognized Agent

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227

Civic Address

1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 4E5 CANADA

1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 4E5 CANADA

1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 4E5 CANADA

1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 4E5 CANADA

Civic Address

600-1741 LOWER WATER
STREET HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3J 0J2 CANADA

Mailing Address

Mailing Address

P.O0. BOX 997 HALIFAX
NOVA SCOTIA B3J 2X2

CANADA
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NOVA SCOTIA

Registry of Joint Stock Companies

Activity

Activity

Company Annual Renewal Statement
Company Annual Renewal Statement

Company Annual Renewal Statement

Filed Document
Special Resolution
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Change of Directors
Appoint an Agent
Address Change
Special Resolution

Change of Directors

Incorporated and Registered

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227

Date

17 April 2023

21 March

2022

12 May 2021

11 March
11 March
06 March
06 March

2020
2020
2020
2020

16 April 2019
15 April 2019

01 March
01 March
24 March
24 March
24 March
22 March
22 March
22 March

2018
2018
2017
2017
2017
2017
2017
2017
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Related Registrations

Relationship

Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name

Business Name

Name

TRURO DAILY NEWS PUBLICATIONS

TRI-COUNTY EXTRA PUBLISHING

THE YARMOUTH COUNTY VANGUARD

THE SHELBURNE COUNTY COAST GUARD

THE QUEENS COUNTY ADVANCE

THE NEWS (PICTOU COUNTY'S DAILY NEWSPAPER)
TRI-COUNTY VANGUARD PUBLISHING

THE KINGS COUNTY REGISTER

THE KINGS COUNTY ADVERTISER

THE HANTS JOURNAL

THE DIGBY COURIER

THE CITIZEN RECORD PUBLICATIONS

THE ANNAPOLIS VALLEY REGISTER PUBLICATIONS
THE ANNAPOLIS COUNTY SPECTATOR

GOBAG FLYER SERVICES

COLCHESTER WEEKLY NEWS PUBLICATIONS
CAPE BRETON POST

CAPE BRETON COMMUNITY POST PUBLICATIONS
AMHERST NEWS PUBLICATIONS

VALLEY JOURNAL ADVERTISER PUBLICATIONS
THE BURNSIDE NEWS PUBLISHING

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227
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NOVA SCOTIA

Registry of Joint Stock Companies

Profile Report

Entity details

Information as of

Registry ID
Business/Organization Name
Incorporation Date

Annual Return due Date
Type

Status

Registered Office

Mailing Address

04 March 2024
1003940

THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED

30 December 1942
31 December 2024
Limited Company
Active

2717 JOSEPH HOWE DRIVE, HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA, B3J 272, CANADA
2717 JOSEPH HOWE DRIVE, HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA, B3J 272, CANADA

Directors and Officers

Name
IAN SCOTT

MARK LEVER

MARK LEVER

SARAH A. DENNIS

SARAH A. DENNIS

Position
COO, EXEC. VP, OPS &
CORP SECRETARY

Director

PRESIDENT & CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Director

CHAIRMAN & PUBLISHER

Recognized Agent

Name
LAWRENCE J. STORDY

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227

Position
Recognized Agent

Civic Address

2717 JOSEPH HOWE
DRIVE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3J 2T2 CANADA

2717 JOSEPH HOWE
DRIVE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3J 2T2 CANADA

2717 JOSEPH HOWE
DRIVE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3J 2T2 CANADA

1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 4E5 CANADA

1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 4E5 CANADA

Civic Address

600-1741 LOWER WATER
STREET HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3J 0J2 CANADA

Mailing Address

Mailing Address

P.O. BOX 997 HALIFAX
NOVA SCOTIA B3J 2X2
CANADA
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Activity
Activity

Company Annual Renewal Statement
Company Annual Renewal Statement
Company Annual Renewal Statement
Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Filed Document

Special Resolution

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Change of Directors

Annual Statement Filed

Annual Renewal

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Change of Directors

Address Change

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Change of Directors

Change of Directors

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Change of Directors

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Change of Directors

Appoint an Agent

Change of Directors

Date

12 December 2023
18 January 2023
30 December 2021
17 November 2020
17 November 2020
11 March 2020

11 March 2020

03 December 2019
03 December 2019
05 January 2018
05 December 2017
05 December 2017
04 December 2017
04 December 2017
06 December 2016
06 December 2016
18 December 2015
18 December 2015
21 September 2015
24 July 2015

08 December 2014
08 December 2014
07 November 2014
10 July 2014

04 December 2013
04 December 2013
02 January 2013
28 December 2012
28 December 2012
23 August 2012
13 August 2012
20 July 2012

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227
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Special Resolution
Special Resolution
Special Resolution
Change of Directors
Change of Directors
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Renewal
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Change of Directors
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Appoint an Agent
Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

19 July 2012

19 July 2012

19 July 2012

19 July 2012

02 April 2012

07 December 2011
07 December 2011
15 December 2010
15 December 2010
16 March 2010

04 January 2010
15 December 2009
15 December 2009
14 October 2009
20 November 2008
20 November 2008
31 December 2007
27 December 2007
06 December 2006
19 December 2005
15 December 2004
15 December 2004
03 December 2003
03 December 2003
03 January 2003
03 January 2003
18 December 2001
18 December 2001
15 December 2000
05 December 2000
04 December 2000
27 September 2000
21 December 1999
21 December 1999

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227
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Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Report Filed
Change of Directors
Special Resolution
Agent Filed

Court Order Filed
Registered

Registered Office Change

Incorporated

29 December 1998
24 December 1998
16 December 1997
15 December 1997
30 January 1997
30 January 1997
30 January 1997
05 December 1995
22 February 1995
11 December 1991
24 December 1990
13 December 1966
11 January 1943
11 January 1943
30 December 1942

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227
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Related Registrations

Relationship Name
Business Name DARTMOUTH EXPRESS
Business Name THE LEADER

Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name
Business Name

Business Name

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227

ATLANTIC LEADER

THE CHRONICLE-HERALD AND MAIL-STAR SPORTSWEEK
THE CHRONICLE HERALD & MAIL STAR

THE NOVASCOTIAN

SENIOR SCHOOL PROFILE

THE HERALD LINE

THE SUNDAY HERALD

THE MAYFLOWER

HEADLINE PROMOTIONAL PRODUCTS

THE WEEKLY NEWS HALIFAX WEST PUBLICATIONS

THE WEEKLY NEWS BEDFORD-SACKVILLE PUBLICATIONS
THE WEEKLY NEWS DARTMOUTH-COLE HARBOUR PUBLICATIONS
CAPE BRETON STAR PUBLISHING

SOUTH SHORE BREAKER PUBLISHING
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NOVA SCOTIA

Registry of Joint Stock Companies

Profile Report

Entity details

Information as of

Registry ID
Business/Organization Name
Incorporation Date

Annual Return due Date
Type

Status

Registered Office

Mailing Address

04 March 2024

3311960

HEADLINE PROMOTIONAL PRODUCTS LIMITED

26 October 2017

31 October 2024

Limited Company

Active

600-1741 LOWER WATER STREET, HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA, B3J 0J2, CANADA
PO BOX 997, HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA, B3J 2X2, CANADA

Directors and Officers

Name
MARK LEVER

MARK LEVER

SARAH DENNIS

SARAH DENNIS

Position Civic Address Mailing Address
Director 1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 3E5 CANADA
CHAIRMAN 1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 3E5 CANADA
Director 1910 BLOOMINGDALE

TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 3E5 CANADA

1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 3E5 CANADA

President, Secretary

Recognized Agent

Name
LAWRENCE J. STORDY

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227

Position
Recognized Agent

Civic Address
600-1741 LOWER WATER

Mailing Address
PO BOX 997 HALIFAX

STREET HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3J 0J2 CANADA

NOVA SCOTIA B3J 2X2
CANADA
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Activity
Activity

Company Annual Renewal Statement
Company Annual Renewal Statement
Company Annual Renewal Statement
Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Filed Document

Special Resolution

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Change of Directors

Special Resolution

Appoint an Agent

Address Change

Change of Directors

Incorporated and Registered

Date

06 October 2023
16 November 2022
14 October 2021
02 October 2020
02 October 2020
11 March 2020

11 March 2020

07 October 2019
07 October 2019
06 November 2018
06 November 2018
27 October 2017
26 October 2017
26 October 2017
26 October 2017
26 October 2017
26 October 2017

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227
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Profile Report

Entity details

Information as of 04 March 2024

Registry ID 3300121

Business/Organization Name TITAN SECURITY & INVESTIGATION INC.

Incorporation Date 11 July 2016

Annual Return due Date 31 July 2024

Type Limited Company

Status Active

Registered Office 600-1741 LOWER WATER STREET, HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA, B3J 0J2, CANADA
Mailing Address 600-1741 LOWER WATER STREET, HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA, B3J 0J2, CANADA

Directors and Officers

Name Position
MARK LEVER Director
MARK LEVER President

Recognized Agent

Name Position
LAWRENCE J. STORDY Recognized Agent

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227

Civic Address

1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 3E5 CANADA

1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 3E5 CANADA

Civic Address

600-1741 LOWER WATER
STREET HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3J 0J2 CANADA

Mailing Address

Mailing Address

PO BOX 997 HALIFAX
NOVA SCOTIA B3J 2X2
CANADA

Page 1 of 2
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Activity
Activity

Company Annual Renewal Statement
Company Annual Renewal Statement
Company Change of Directors and Officers
Company Annual Renewal Statement
Change of Directors

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Change of Directors

Change of Directors

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Change of Directors

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Change of Directors

Appoint an Agent

Change of Directors

Reinstated

Revoke for Non-Payment

Revoked for Non-Payment

Change of Directors

Change of Directors

Incorporated and Registered

Address Change

Appoint an Agent

Change of Directors

Special Resolution

Date

03 July 2023

18 July 2022

25 January 2022
23 August 2021

09 December 2020
25 August 2020

25 August 2020

05 June 2020

28 January 2020
04 July 2019

04 July 2019

22 January 2019
13 June 2018

13 June 2018

05 January 2018
03 January 2018
03 January 2018
13 September 2017
07 September 2017
07 September 2017
24 January 2017
18 August 2016

11 July 2016

11 July 2016

11 July 2016

11 July 2016

11 July 2016

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227
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Registry of Joint Stock Companies

Profile Report

Entity details

Information as of

Registry ID
Business/Organization Name
Incorporation Date

Annual Return due Date
Type

Status

Registered Office

Mailing Address

Name History

04 March 2024

3275057

BRACE HOLDINGS LIMITED

12 September 2013

30 September 2024

Limited Company

Active

600 - 1741 LOWER WATER STREET, HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA, B3J 0J2, CANADA
P.0. BOX 997, HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA, B3J 2X2, CANADA

HALIFAX HERALD HOLDINGS LIMITED 12 September 2013 24 March 2017

Directors and Officers

Name
MARK LEVER

MARK LEVER

SARAH A. DENNIS

SARAH A. DENNIS

Civic Address

1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 4E5 CANADA

1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 4E5 CANADA

1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 4E5 CANADA

1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 4E5 CANADA

Position Mailing Address

Director

President, Secretary

Director

CHAIR & PUBLISHER

Recognized Agent

Name
LAWRENCE J. STORDY

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227

Position
Recognized Agent

Civic Address
600-1741 LOWER WATER

Mailing Address
P.O. BOX 997 HALIFAX

STREET HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3J 0J2 CANADA

NOVA SCOTIA B3J 2X2
CANADA

Page 1 of 2
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Activity

Activity

Company Annual Renewal Statement
Company Annual Renewal Statement

Company Annual Renewal Statement

Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Filed Document
Special Resolution
Special Resolution
Change of Directors
Filed Name Change
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Annual Renewal
Annual Statement Filed
Special Resolution
Address Change
Change of Directors
Appoint an Agent
Change of Directors

Incorporated and Registered

Date

21 September 2023
13 September 2022
02 September 2021
08 October 2020
08 October 2020
10 September 2019
10 September 2019
13 September 2018
13 September 2018
01 September 2017
01 September 2017
16 May 2017

11 April 2017

11 April 2017

11 April 2017

24 March 2017

02 September 2016
02 September 2016
02 September 2015
02 September 2015
04 September 2014
04 September 2014
17 September 2013
16 September 2013
16 September 2013
16 September 2013
12 September 2013
12 September 2013

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227
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Profile Report

Entity details

Information as of 04 March 2024

Registry ID 3306513

Business/Organization Name BRACE CAPITAL LIMITED

Incorporation Date 01 April 2017

Annual Return due Date 30 April 2024

Type Limited Company

Status Active

Registered Office 600 - 1741 LOWER WATER STREET, HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA, B3J 0J2, CANADA
Mailing Address PO BOX 997, HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA, B3J 2X2, CANADA

Directors and Officers

Name Position Civic Address Mailing Address

MARK LEVER Director 1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 3E5 CANADA

MARK LEVER CHAIRMAN 1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 3E5 CANADA

SARAH A. DENNIS Director 1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 3E5 CANADA

SARAH A. DENNIS President, Secretary 1910 BLOOMINGDALE
TERRACE HALIFAX NOVA
SCOTIA B3H 3E5 CANADA

Recognized Agent
Name Position Civic Address Mailing Address
LAWRENCE J. STORDY Recognized Agent 600 - 1741 LOWER WATER P.O. BOX 997 HALIFAX

STREET HALIFAX NOVA NOVA SCOTIA B3J 2X2
SCOTIA B3J 0J2 CANADA  CANADA

risc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227 Page 10of 2
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Activity
Activity

Company Annual Renewal Statement
Company Annual Renewal Statement
Company Annual Renewal Statement
Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Filed Document

Special Resolution

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Annual Renewal

Annual Statement Filed

Special Resolution

Date of Filing Amalgamation

Address Change

Appoint an Agent

Change of Directors

Date

05 April 2023
13 May 2022
28 June 2021
19 May 2020
19 May 2020
11 March 2020
11 March 2020
09 April 2019
09 April 2019
27 March 2018
27 March 2018
16 May 2017
01 April 2017
31 March 2017
31 March 2017
31 March 2017

Related Registrations

Relationship

Amalgamated From
Amalgamated From
Amalgamated From

Business Name

Name

BRACE CAPITAL LTD.

BRACE PROPERTIES LIMITED
BRACE PUBLISHING LIMITED
THE CASKET PUBLISHING

rjsc.ca | Registry of Joint Stock Companies, PO Box 1529, Halifax, NS B3J 2Y4 | 902-424-7770 | 1-800-225-8227
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SALTWIRE NETWORK INC.

Balance Sheet

December 31, 2022 and January 1, 2022

December 31, January 1,
2022 2022
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 953,979 $ 1,583,102
Accounts receivable (note 2) 8,613,246 8,001,426
Investments and marketable securities - 1,500,000
Due from related parties (note 3) 1,031,938 355,117
Inventory 226,426 161,639
Prepaid expenses 188,258 138,160
11,013,847 11,739,444
Due from shareholder 1,000 1,000
Property, plant and equipment (note 4) 7,465,415 8,213,262
Intangible assets (note 4) 241,600 -
$ 18,721,862 $ 19,953,706
Liabilities and Shareholder's Deficiency
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 5) $ 7,379,393 $ 3,335254
Advance payments 1,248,909 1,368,724
Current portion of long-term debt (note 6) 35,881,840 10,490,394
Current portion of due to related parties (note 3) 9,760 1,396
44 519,902 15,195,768
Long-term debt (note 6) - 26,971,517
Due to related parties (note 3) 11,676,074 11,099,803
11,676,074 38,071,320
56,195,976 53,267,088
Shareholder's deficiency:
Share capital (note 7) 1,000 1,000

Deficit

(37,475,114)

(33,314,382)

Going concern (note 1(a))
Commitments (note 8)

(37,474,114)

(33,313,382)

$ 18,721,862 $ 19,953,706
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
On be of the Board:
i Director K Director

-
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THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED

Balance Sheet

December 31, 2022, with comparative information for January 1, 2022

December 31, January 1,
2022 2022
Assets
Current assets:
Cash 225,126 20,307
Accounts receivable (nole 2) 4,500,685 3,793,165
Inventory 453,442 376,069
Due from related parties (note 3) 11,254,528 11,446,850
Prepaid expenses 92,756 79,115
16,526,537 15,715,506
Due from related parties (note 3) 658,188 658,188
Property, plant and equipment (note 4) 7,183,726 8,554,525
Accrued benefit asset (note 5) - 8,777,779
Investment tax credits recoverable (note 6) 236,252 236,252
Investment in significantly influenced entity (note 7) - 630,000
Intangible assets 442 517 450,658
investment (note 8) 1 1
Future income taxes (note 9) - 2,600,000
Goodwill 1,141,646 1,141,646
$ 26,188,867 $ 38,764,555
Liabilities and Shareholders' (Deficiency) Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 10) $ 10,455,633 8,999,274
Advanced payments 1,462,449 1,789,776
Current portion of long-term debt (note 11) 8,776,405 9,480,279
Current portion of deferred lease inducement (note 12) 107,904 107,904
20,802,391 20,377,233
Deferred lease inducement (note 12) 503,552 611,456
Accrued benefit obligation (note 5) 16,423,165 4,609,188
Due to related parties (note 3) 12,605,608 12,473,141
50,334,716 38,071,018
Shareholders' (deficiency) equity:
Share capital (note 13) 99,999 99,999
Deficit (retained earnings) (24,245,848) 593,538
(24,145,849) 693,537
Going concern (note 1(a))
Commitments (note 16)
$ 26,188,867 $ 38,764,555

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Director

Onb of;f:\
6, :

<
/l M Director



THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED

Statement of Operations and Deficit

52 weeks ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for the 52 weeks ended January
1, 2022

December 31, January 1,
2022 2022
Revenue:
Advertising and inserts $ 5,580,245 $ 6,409,807
Circulation 14,909,101 16,385,302
Distribution 169,578 188,485
Printing 1,917,819 2,363,896
Management fees (note 3) 852,372 2,743,491
Merchandise sales 7,068 5,630
Other 2,420,588 2,160,332
25,856,771 30,256,943
Operating expenses (recovery):
Advertising and promotion 94,931 236,842
Content 856,021 1,071,851
Cost of merchandise 5,863 3,138
Journalism labour tax credit (590,000) (577,201)
Newsprint, other paper, plates and ink 1,529,982 2,253,187
Office and general 780,746 1,143,830
Packaging and delivery 5,731,370 5,824,757
Premises 2,784,216 2,577,521
Service contracts and professional fees 912,498 1,182,440
Wages and benefits (note 15) 10,379,964 11,769,655
22,485,591 25,486,020
Earnings before the undernoted items and income taxes 3,371,180 4,770,923
Other expenses (income):
Amortization 1,945,486 2,234,371
Amortization of finance fees 18,437 39,313
Interest on long-term debt 702,059 776,480
L.oss on disposal of related parties 983,373 -
Pension expense (recovery) (note 14) 21,437,857 (210,643)
Termination costs 523,354 173,465
25,610,566 3,012,986
(Loss) earnings before income taxes (22,239,386) 1,757,937
Future Income laxes expense 2,600,000 -
(Loss) net earnings (24,839,386) 1,757,937
Retained earnings (deficit), beginning of period 593,538 (1,164,399)
(Deficit) retained earnings, end of period $ (24,245,848) 3 593,538

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED

Statement of Cash Flows

52 weeks ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for the 52 weeks ended January

1, 2022
December 31, January 1,
2022 2022
Cash provided by (used in):
Operations: :
(Loss) net earnings $ (24,839,386) $ 1,757,937
Iltems not involving cash:
Accrued benefit obligation - benefit payments (317,305) (503,605)
Amortization 1,945,487 2,234,371
Amortization of deferred lease inducement (107,904) (107,904)
Amortization of finance fees 18,437 39,300
Future income taxes recovery 2,600,000 -
Pension expense (recovery) 21,437,857 (210,643)
Other retirement benefits (528,7986) (33,073)
Loss on disposal of related parties 983,372 -
1,191,762 3,176,383
Changes in non-cash operating working capital:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (707,520) 69,201
Iincrease in inventory (77,373) (13,039)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (13,641) 108,148
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities 1,456,359 (1,364,192)
Decrease in advance payments (327,327) (64,925)
1,522,260 1,911,576
Financing:
Proceeds on long-term debt 26,870 123,722
Payments on long-term debt (749,181) (874,239)
Payments to related parties (28,583) (3,623,253)
(750,894) (4,373,770)
Investing:
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (331,089) (94,639)
Increase in intangible assets (235,458) -
(566,547) (94,639)
Increase (decrease) in cash 204,819 (2,556,833)
Cash, beginning of period 20,307 2,577,140
Cash, end of period 225,126 $ 20,307

See accompanying notes to financial statements.






THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

52 weeks ended December 31, 2022

1.

Significant accounting policies (continued):

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

®

Cash:

Cash consists of cash on hand, bank balances and bank overdrafts that fluctuate held with
financial institutions.

Inventory:

Inventory, consisting of paper, ink, production supplies, consumables and merchandise, is
valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, measured using the specific
identification method.

Property, plant and equipment:

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated amortization.
Amortization is provided using the following methods and annual rates:

Asset Basis Rate

Building - capital asset Straight-line 5%
Machinery and equipment Declining balance 20%
Vehicles Declining balance 30%
Computer software Declining balance 30%-100%
Leasehold improvements Straight-line Term of the lease
Plant and equipment - press, inserter Straight-line 5%

One half year's amortization is taken in the year of acquisition.

Impairment of long-lived assets:

Long-lived assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized
when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows
resulting from its use and eventual disposition. The impairment loss.is measured as the
amount by which the carrying amount of the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value.

Investment tax credits:

Investment tax credits are accounted for using the cost reduction method. Under this
method, investment tax credits relating to the acquisition of fixed assets are deducted from
the cost of the related assets and those costs related to current expenditures are included
in the determination of net earnings as a reduction of the related expenses.






THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

52 weeks ended December 31, 2022

1.

Significant accounting policies (continued):

(k)

)

(m)

Employee future benefits:

The Company has funded a defined benefit plan providing pension and other retirement
benefits to most of its employees. The defined benefit pension plan is based on years of
service and final average salary. The Company also supplements post-employment
income in certain cases and also pays post-retirement benefits other than pensions (life
and health premiums) for eligible retired employees.

The Company uses the immediate recognition approach to account for its defined benefit
plan and actuarial gains/losses and past service costs are included in pension costs in the
statement of earnings and retained earnings. The Company uses the funding valuation to
measure its benefit obligations and recognizes all past service costs and actuarial gains
and losses in the period they arise.

Revenue recognition:

Advertising revenue is recognized in the period the advertising is delivered through
multiple platforms, when the price is fixed or determinable and when collection is
reasonably assured.

Inserts, circulation, distribution, printing and merchandise revenues are recognized when
delivered to the customer, the price is fixed or determinable and when collection is
reasonably assured.

Management fees are recognized when services are delivered, amount is fixed or
determinable and collection is reasonably assured.

Financial instruments:
(i) Initial measurement:

The Company initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair
value.

The Company subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at
amortized cost.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash, accounts receivable and
investments in and amounts due from related parties.

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, long-term debt and amounts due to related parties.












THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

52 weeks ended December 31, 2022

3. Related party transactions (continued):

SaltWire Network Inc, Abiglex Investments | imited and G.W.D. Investments Limited are related
through common ownership. These loans have no set terms of repayment and are non-interest
bearing. The above loans are subordinated to the loan described in Note 11.

During the year, the Company entered into the following transactions with related parties under
common control, which were recorded at the exchange amounts agreed to by the parties:

(1) The Company earned management fees from Headline promotional Products Ltd. of
$16,771, SaltWire Network Inc. of $793,600 and from Brace Capital of $42,000 totaling
$852,372 (January 2022 - $nil; $2,701,716; and $41,775 totaling $2,743,491).

4. Property, plant and equipment:

December 31, January 1,

2022 2022

Accumulated Net book Net book

Cost amortization value value

Land - capital asset $ 483,640 $ - % 483,640 $ 483,640
Building - capital asset 5,206,718 4,622,519 584,199 635,482
Machinery and equipment 36,307,455 31,350,449 4,957,006 6,163,855
Vehicles 148,371 137,552 10,819 15,456
Computer software 12,069,570 11,847,787 221,783 166,603
Leasehold improvements 3,308,969 2,382,690 926,279 1,089,489
$ 57,524,723 $ 50,340,997 $ 7,183,726 $ 8,554,525
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THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

52 weeks ended December 31, 2022

5. Accrued benefit asset (continued):

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Company's accrued benefit
obligations and the employer's net periodic pension cost are as follows:

December 31, January 1,

2022 2022

Discount rate for funded status 42 % 4.5 %
Percentage Rate of compensation increase 3.5 3.5

During the period ended January 2, 2021, the Company elected to early adopt the provision for
adverse deviation requirements of CPA Canada Handbook section 3462 relating to the defined
benefit obligation. The adoption is applied on a prospective basis and included within the
assumption listed above.

6. Investment tax credits recoverable:

During the year, the Company earned $Nil (January 2022 - $Nil) of investment tax credits, and
utilized $Nil of credits. The balance of $236,252 of investment tax credits recoverable expire as

follows:

2030 $ 5,463
2031 86,255
2032 22,014
2033 16,270
2034 18,810
2035 13,969
2036 11,743
2038 61,691
2039 37

5 236,252
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THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

52 weeks ended December 31, 2022

7. Investment in significantly influenced entity:

December 31, January 1,
2022 2022
Halifax Professional Basketball Club Inc. g - $ 630,000

During the year, the Company wrote off an investment in significantly influenced entity as its
carrying amount could not be fully recovered.

8. Investment:

December 31, January 1,
2022 2022
Grafton Investments Limited $ 1 $ 1

As a result of a revaluation of the investment in Grafton Investments Limited in 2008, an
allowance was recorded to adjust the investment to fair value.

9. Future income taxes:

During the period it was determined that it is not more likely than not that the future income tax
assets and liabilities noted below will be realized in the normal course of the Company's future
operations.

The Company has non-capital losses carried forward for tax purposes of $19,142,000 (January
2022 - $17,902,000) which are available to offset future taxable income. The losses expire from
2037 to 2042.

Future income taxes are comprised of:

14



THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

52 weeks ended December 31, 2022

9. Future income taxes (continued):

December 31, January 1,
2022 2022
Temporary differences with property, plant and

equipment and goodwill $ (518,000) $ (593,000)
Temporary differences with pension 4,762,000 (1,208,000)
Temporary differences with loss carryforwards 5,651,000 5,191,000
Future income taxes assets available 9,795,000 3,390,000
Allowance for unrecognized tax assets (9,795,000) (790,000)
Future income tax assets recognized 3 - $ 2,600,000

10. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Included in accounts payable are government remittances payable of $5,066,613 (January
2022 - $3,336,358) relating to HST remittances.

15






THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

52 weeks ended December 31, 2022

12.

13.

Deferred lease inducement:

In 2008, the Company received a cash inducement from its new landlord on Joseph Howe
Drive in Halifax, in the amount of $2,158,080. This amount has been deferred and is being
amortized over the term of the lease plus one renewal period (20 years total), as a reduction to
rent expense.

Accumulated December 31, January 1,

Cost amortization 2022 2022

Lease inducement $ 2,158,080 $ 1,330,816 $ 611,456 $ 719,360
Less: current portion = 5 (107,904) (107,904)

$ 2,158,080 § 1,330,816 $ 503,552 § 611,456

Share capital:

December 31, January 1,
2022 2022
Authorized:
20,000 6% Non-cumulative preference shares,
redeemable at the par value of $100
10,000 common shares, no par value
Issued:
Common shares $ 99,999 $ 99,999

17






THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

52 weeks ended December 31, 2022

17. Financial instruments:

Risks and concentrations

The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following
analysis provides a measure of the Company's risk exposure and concentrations at December
31, 2022.

It is management's opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant market, currency,
interest rate, and price risks from its financial instruments. The risks arising on financial
instruments are limited to the following:

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the
other party by failing to discharge an obligation. Financial instruments that potentially subject
the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash, accounts receivable and amounts
due from related parties. The Company deposits its cash in reputable financial institutions and
therefore believes the risk of loss to be remote. The Company is exposed to credit risk from
customer accounts receivable. The Company believes this credit risk is minimized as the
Company has a large and diverse customer base. The Company is exposed to credit risk from
the amounts due from related parties. The Company believes this credit risk is minimized as
related parties have sufficient liquid assets. A provision for impairment of accounts receivable is
established when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all
amounts due.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities. The Company is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its

accounts payable and accrued liabilities, long-term debt, amounts due to related parties and
contributions to the pension plan.
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Compilation Engagement Report

To the Management of Headline Promotional Products Limited:

On the basis of information provided by management, we have compiled the balance sheet of Headline Promotional
Products Limited as at December 31, 2022, the statement of earnings and deficit for the year then ended, and Note 1,
which describes the basis of accounting applied in the preparation of the compiled financial information (“financial
information”).

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial information, including the accuracy and completeness of
the underlying information used to compile it and the selection of the basis of accounting.

We performed this engagement in accordance with Canadian Standard on Related Services (CSRS) 4200,
Compilation Engagements, which requires us to comply with relevant ethical requirements. Our responsibility is to
assist management in the preparation of the financial information.

We did not perform an audit engagement or a review engagement, nor were we required to perform procedures to
verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management. Accordingly, we do not express an

audit opinion or a review conclusion, or provide any form of assurance on the financial information.

Readers are cautioned that the financial information may not be appropriate for their purposes.

Dartmouth, Nova Scotia

September 6, 2023 Chartered Professional Accountants



Headline Promotional Products Limited

Balance Sheet
As at December 31, 2022

2022 2021
Assets
Current
Cash 13,535 35,739
Investments 11,032 11,027
Trade and other receivables 93,090 70,410
Harmonized sales/goods and services tax receivable 1,129 -
Inventory 59,087 53,634
Prepaid expenses and deposits 32,713 6,322
Due from related parties - 11,716
210,586 188,848
Property, plant and equipment 943 1,310
Goodwill 1 1
211,530 190,159
Liabilities
Current
Trade and other payables 640,715 346,700
Harmonized sales/goods and services tax payable - 8,410
Customer deposits 7,754 4,150
Long-term debt - 40,000
Due to related parties 342,994 350,357
991,463 749,617
Shareholders' Deficit
Share capital
Common shares 11 11
Contributed surplus 47,264 47,264
Deficit (827,208) (606,733)
(779,933) (559,458)
211,530 190,159

Approved on behalf of Management




Headline Promotional Products Limited

Balance Sheet
As at December 31, 2022

2022 2021
Assets
Current
Cash 13,535 35,739
Investments 11,032 11,027
Trade and other receivabies 93,090 70,410
Harmonized sales/goods and services tax receivable 1,129 B
Inventory 59,087 53,634
Prepaid expenses and deposits 32,713 6,322
Due from related parties - 11,716
210,586 188,848
Property, plant and equipment 943 1,310
Goodwill 1 1
211,530 190,159
Liabilities
Current
Trade and other payables 640,715 346,700
Hamonized sales/goods and services tax payable - 8,410
Customer deposits 7,754 4,150
Long-term debt - 40,000
Due to related parties 342,994 350,357
991,463 749,617
Shareholders' Deficit
Share capital
Common shares 1 11
Contributed surplus 47,264 47,264
Deficit (827,208) (606,733)

(779,933) (559,458)

211,530 190,159

Approvegrbn behalf of Management




Headline Promotional Products Limited

Statement of Earnings and Deficit
For the year ended December 31, 2022

2022 2021
Revenue 997,978 673,563
Cost of sales
Purchases 662,943 409,089
Freight 61,020 37,430
723,963 446,519
Gross profit 274,015 227,044
Expenses
Advertising and promotion 5,358 4,443
Amortization 984 36,037
Bad debts (recovery) (1,144) 810
Management fees - 15,600
Meals and entertainment 1,493 1,784
Office 46,279 28,830
Professional fees 5,083 10,628
Rental 28,045 15,681
Repairs and maintenance 3,324 -
Salaries, wages and benefits 403,478 214,193
Sub-contracts 1,590 -
494,490 328,006
Loss (220,475) (100,962)
Deficit, beginning of year (606,733) (505,771)

Deficit, end of year (827,208) (606,733)




Headline Promotional Products Limited

Notes to the Compiled Financial Information
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Basis of accounting

The basis of accounting applied in the preparation of the financial information of Headline Promotional Products Limited as
at December 31, 2022 is on the historical basis, reflecting cash transactions with the addition of:

. trade and other receivables
. trade and other payables
. harmonized sales/goods and services tax receivable as at the reporting date.




Form 39.09
Exhibit Stamp

Hfx No.
This is Exhibit “K” referred to in the

affidavit of Russell French, sworn to before
me on March 8, 2024.

B

Signature




Titan Security & Investigation Inc.

Financial Statements
December 31, 2022



Titan Security & Investigation Inc.

Contents
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Page
Independent Practitioner’s Review Engagement Report
Financial Statements
22 1= T o= 1= ST PP PPRP 1
Statement of Earnings and RetaiN@0 EArNINGS.......ooaaiiiuiiiiiie et ee ettt e e e e ettt e e e e e s s a b be et eaaeasaasaeaeeeeaesaaannsneeeaaaeaaannnee 2
StAtEMENT OF CASN FIOWS......ceiiitiie ettt e ettt e et e s s h et e e eaE e e e s s e e e e skt e e aaE e e e s nn e e e s nnne e e e annneeennnes 3

N eI (o R g To N S e Fo e LT P L IS] = L =T 0 =T L £ TR 4




Independent Practitioner’s Review Engagement Report

To the Shareholder of Titan Security & Investigation Inc.:

We have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of Titan Security & Investigation Inc. (the "Company")
which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2022, and the statements of earnings and retained earnings
and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Management'’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Practitioner’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the accompanying financial statements based on our review. We
conducted our review in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review engagements, which
require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements.

A review of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review engagements
is a limited assurance engagement. The practitioner performs procedures, primarily consisting of making inquiries of
management and others within the Company, as appropriate, and applying analytical procedures, and evaluates the
evidence obtained.

The procedures performed in a review are substantially less in extent than, and vary in nature from, those performed
in an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion on these financial statements.

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the financial statements do
not present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Titan Security & Investigation Inc. as at

December 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises.

Other Matter

The financial statements of Titan Security & Investigation Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2021 were reviewed
by another practitioner who expressed an unmodified conclusion on those statements on November 1, 2022.

Dartmouth, Nova Scotia

September 6, 2023 Chartered Professional Accountants



Titan Security & Investigation Inc.

Balance Sheet
As at December 31, 2022

2022 2021
Assets
Current
Cash 151,199 106,801
Trade and other receivables 297,423 315,349
Inventory 10,080 6,110
Prepaid expenses and deposits 16,812 16,239
Advances to related parties (Note 5) 61,061 31,317
536,575 475,816
Property, plant and equipment (Note 3) 35,455 5,116
572,030 480,932
Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 127,896 99,510
Harmonized sales tax payable 101,473 83,472
Income taxes payable 512 30,266
Advances from related parties (Note 6) 167,381 114,832
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 7) 7,209 -
404,471 328,080
Long-term debt (Note 7) 23,431 40,000
427,902 368,080
Shareholder's Equity
Share capital (Note 8) 25,000 25,000
Retained earnings 119,128 87,852
144,128 112,852
572,030 480,932

Approved on behalf of the Board

Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Titan Security & Investigation Inc.

Balance Sheet
As at December 31, 2022

2022 2021
Assets
Current
Cash 151,199 106,801
Trade and other receivables 297,423 315,349
Inventory 10,080 6,110
Prepaid expenses and deposits 16,812 16,239
Advances to related parties (Note 5) 61,061 31,317
536,575 475,816
Property, plant and equipment (Note 3) 35,455 5,116
572,030 480,932
Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 127,896 99,510
Hamonized sales tax payable 101,473 83,472
Income taxes payable 512 30,266
Advances from related parties (Note 6) 167,381 114,832
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 7) 7,209 -
404,471 328,080
Long-term debt (Note 7) 23,431 40,000
427,902 368,080
Shareholder's Equity
Share capital (Note 8) 25,000 25,000
Retained earnings 119,128 87,852
144,128 112,852
572,030 480,932

Appro on f of the Board

Diréctor =

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Titan Security & Investigation Inc.

Statement of Earnings and Retained Earnings
For the year ended December 31, 2022

2022 2021
Sales (Note 4) 2,453,849 1,871,287
Cost of sales
Contractors 5,630 895
Operating costs (Note 4) 24,487 20,068
Salaries and wages 1,946,289 1,445,738
Travel 2,318 1,921
Vehicle 14,198 10,753
1,992,922 1,479,375
Gross profit 460,927 391,912
Expenses
Advertising and promotion 2,266 4,242
Amortization 2,361 2,236
Bad debts 1,000 -
Meals and entertainment 632 3,504
Office (Note 4) 101,775 151,187
Professional fees 9,843 10,628
Rental (Note 4) 178,400 -
Management salaries 132,862 115,844
429,139 287,641
Earnings from operations 31,788 104,271
Provision for income taxes (Note 9) 512 30,266
Net earnings 31,276 74,005
Retained earnings, beginning of year 87,852 13,847
Retained earnings, end of year 119,128 87,852

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Titan Security & Investigation Inc.

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2022

2022 2021
Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating activities
Net earnings 31,276 74,005
Amortization 2,361 2,236
33,637 76,241
Change in working capital accounts
Trade and other receivables 17,926 (186,163)
Harmonized sales tax payable 18,001 26,911
Income taxes payable (29,754) 23,127
Inventory (3,970) (4,919)
Prepaid expenses and deposits (573) 911
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 28,387 35,646
63,654 (28,246)
Financing activities
Repayments of long-term debt (9,360) -
Advances from related parties 34,978 24,805
Repayment of advances from related parties (165,832) -
(140,214) 24,805
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (32,700) (3,250)
Advances to related parties (223,316) -
Repayment of advances to related parties 376,974 -
120,958 (3,250)
Increase (decrease) in cash 44,398 (6,691)
Cash. beginning of year 106,801 113,492
Cash, end of year 151,199 106,801

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Titan Security & Investigation Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Incorporation and operations

Titan Security & Investigation Inc. (the "Company") was incorporated under the Companies Act of Nova Scotia on
July 11, 2016. The Company operates as a commercial security business.

Significant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises set
out in Part Il of the CPA Canada Handbook - Accounting, as issued by the Accounting Standards Board in Canada and
include the following significant accounting policies:

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include balances with banks and short-term investments with maturities within one year of the
fiscal year end.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the taxes payable method. Under this method, a provision is only made for
taxes payable or recoverable in the current year. Income taxes payable/recoverable are measured using the income tax
rates and laws established by taxation authorities and in effect at the balance sheet date.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Amortization, intended to amortize the cost of the assets over
their estimated useful lives, is provided using the straight-line method at the following rates:

Rate
Computer equipment 30 %
Website 30 %
Security vests 20 %

Property, plant and equipment acquired during the year but not placed into use during this time are not amortized in the
year of acquisition. In the year of acquisition, amortization is taken at one-half of the above rates.

Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when there is persuasive evidence of an agreement, the services are provided to the
customer, the price is fixed or determinable and collection is reasonably assured.

Financial instruments

The Company recognizes its financial instruments when the Company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument.

Arm’s length financial instruments

Financial instruments originated/acquired or issued/assumed in an arm’s length transaction (“arm’s length financial
instruments”) are initially recorded at their fair value.

At initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably elect to subsequently measure any arm’s length financial instrument at
fair value. The Company has not made such an election during the year.

The Company subsequently measures investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market and all derivative
instruments, except those designated in a qualifying hedging relationship or that are linked to, and must be settled by
delivery of, unquoted equity instruments of another entity, at fair value. Fair value is determined by published price
guotations. Investments in equity instruments not quoted in an active market and derivatives that are linked to, and must be
settled by delivery of, unquoted equity instruments of another entity, are subsequently measured at cost less impairment.
With the exception of financial liabilities indexed to a measure of the Company’s performance or value of its equity and
those instruments designated at fair value, all other financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized
cost.




Titan Security & Investigation Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Financial instruments (Continued from previous page)

Transaction costs and financing fees directly attributable to the origination, acquisition, issuance or assumption of financial
instruments subsequently measured at fair value are immediately recognized in net earnings. Conversely, transaction costs
and financing fees are added to the carrying amount for those financial instruments subsequently measured at cost or
amortized cost.

Related party financial instruments

The Company initially measures the following financial instruments originated/acquired or issued/assumed in a related party
transaction (“related party financial instruments”) at fair value:

. Investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market

. Debt instruments quoted in an active market

. Debt instruments when the inputs significant to the determination of its fair value are observable (directly
or indirectly)

. Derivative contracts.

All other related party financial instruments are measured at cost on initial recognition. When the financial instrument has
repayment terms, cost is determined using the undiscounted cash flows, excluding interest, dividend, variable and
contingent payments, less any impairment losses previously recognized by the transferor. When the financial instrument
does not have repayment terms, but the consideration transferred has repayment terms, cost is determined based on the
repayment terms of the consideration transferred. When the financial instrument and the consideration transferred both do
not have repayment terms, the cost is equal to the carrying or exchange amount of the consideration transferred or received
(refer to Note 4).

At initial recognition, the Company may elect to subsequently measure related party debt instruments that are quoted in
active market, or that have observable inputs significant to the determination of fair value, at fair value.

The Company has not made such an election during the year, thus all such related party debt instruments are subsequently
measured at amortized cost.

The Company subsequently measures investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market and all derivative
instruments, except those designated in a qualifying hedging relationship or that are linked to, and must be settled by
delivery of, unquoted equity instruments of another entity, at fair value. Fair value is determined by published price
quotations. Financial instruments that were initially measured at cost and derivatives that are linked to, and must be settled
by, delivery of unquoted equity instruments of another entity, are subsequently measured using the cost method less any
reduction for impairment.

Transaction costs and financing fees directly attributable to the origination, acquisition, issuance or assumption of related
party financial instruments are immediately recognized in net earnings.

Financial asset impairment

The Company assesses impairment of all its financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost. The Company groups
assets for impairment testing when available information is not sufficient to permit identification of each individually impaired
financial asset in the group; there are numerous assets affected by the same factors; or no asset is individually significant.
Management considers whether the issuer is having significant financial difficulty; whether there has been a breach in
contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments in determining whether objective evidence of
impairment exists. When there is an indication of impairment, the Company determines whether it has resulted in a
significant adverse change in the expected timing or amount of future cash flows during the year.

With the exception of related party debt instruments and related party equity instruments initially measured at cost, the
Company reduces the carrying amount of any impaired financial assets to the highest of: the present value of cash flows
expected to be generated by holding the assets; the amount that could be realized by selling the assets at the balance
sheet date; and the amount expected to be realized by exercising any rights to collateral held against those assets.




Titan Security & Investigation Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Financial instruments (Continued from previous page)

For related party debt instruments initially measured at cost, the Company reduces the carrying amount of the asset (or
group of assets), to the highest of: the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by holding the asset, or group of
similar assets, excluding the interest and dividend payments of the instrument; the present value of cash flows expected to
be generated by holding the assets; the amount that could be realized by selling the assets at the balance sheet date; and
the amount expected to be realized by exercising any rights to collateral held against those assets.

For related party equity instruments initially measured at cost, the Company reduces the carrying amount of the asset (or
group of assets), to the amount that could be realized by selling the asset(s) at the balance sheet date.

Any impairment, which is not considered temporary, is included in current year net earnings.

The Company reverses impairment losses on financial assets when there is a decrease in impairment and the decrease
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized. The amount of the reversal is
recognized in net earnings in the year the reversal occurs.

Measurement uncertainty (use of estimates)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the year.

Accounts receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts
is provided where considered necessary.

Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary they are reported in
earnings in the years in which they become known.

Property, plant and equipment

2022 2021
Cost Accumulated Net book Net book
amortization value value
Vehicle 31,229 - 31,229 -
Computer equipment 9,180 7,637 1,543 2,353
Website 3,250 1,463 1,787 2,763
Furniture and fixtures 1,861 1,861 - -
Security vests 960 64 896 -
46,480 11,025 35,455 5,116

During the year, the company purchased a vehicle with a carrying value of $31,229. No amortization of this asset has been
recorded during the current year because it was purchased at the end of the year.




Titan Security & Investigation Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Related party transactions

The following table summarizes the Company's related party transactions for the year:

2022 2021
The Halifax Herald Limited, a common controlled company
Security services provided 161,147 148,879
Other services provided - 17,020
Saltwire Network Inc., acommon controlled company
Security and personnel services provided 10,131 4,212
Other services provided - 657
Headline Promotional Products Limited, a common controlled company
Operating expenses paid 8,080 4,072
The Halifax Herald Limited, a common controlled company
Office expenses paid 22,133 1,188
Rent expense paid to The Halifax Herald Limited 178,400 -
Saltwire Network Inc., acommon controlled company
Software fees 2,552 1,468
Management fee paid 63,600 -
Brace Capital Limited, the parent company
Management fee paid - 66,000

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount
of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.




Titan Security & Investigation Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Advances to related parties

At the end of the year, the current amounts due from related parties, all related through common ownership, unless
otherwise noted below, are as follows:

2022 2021

Saltwire Network Inc. - 604

The Halifax Herald Limited - 29,277

Holiday Parade of Lights - 1,436
Headline Promotional Products Limited 45,000 -
Brace Capital Limited, the parent company 16,061 -

61,061 31,317

The amount due from Headline Promotional Products Limited bears interest at 8% per annum. All other related party
amounts are non-interest bearing with no set terms of repayment. These amounts are expected to be collected in the next
fiscal year and as such are recorded as current.

Advances from related parties

At the end of the year, the current amounts due to related parties, all related through common ownership, unless otherwise
noted below, are as follows:

2022 2021

Brace Capital Limited, the Parent company - 114,832
The Halifax Herald Limited 60,681 -
Saltwire Network Inc. 106,700 -

167,381 114,832

The amount due to Brace Capital Limited bears interest at 8% per annum and has no set terms of repayment. As such, the
balance is due on demand and is presented as a current liability.

Long-term debt

2022 2021
Canada Emergency Business Account (CEBA) loan bearing 0% interest until December
31, 2023. During the year, the Company repaid the CEBA loan balance in full. - 40,000
Vehicle loan bearing interest at 3.99% payable in monthly instalments of $692 including
interest beginning January 2023, matures December 2026 and is secured by a vehicle
with a net book value of $31,229. 30,640 -
30,640 40,000
Less: current portion of long-term debt 7,209 -
23,431 40,000




Titan Security & Investigation Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

7.

10.

Long-term debt (Continued from previous page)

Principal repayments on long-term debt in each of the next four years are estimated as follows:

2023 7,209
2024 7,501
2025 7,806
2026 8,124

30,640

Share capital

Authorized:
40,000 Common shares with a par value of $1.00 each.
2022 2021
Issued
Common shares
200 Common shares 25,000 25,000
Income taxes
The reconciliation of the Company's effective income tax expense is as follows:
2022 2021
Expected tax expense (Rate - 29%; 2021 - 29%) 9,219 30,239
Increase (decrease) in income tax expense resulting from:
Impact of difference between amortization for accounting purposes and CCA taken in
the period (8,799) (490)
Non-deductible expenses 92 517
Actual tax expense 512 30,266

Financial instruments

The Company, as part of its operations, carries a number of financial instruments. It is management's opinion that the
Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency, credit, liquidity or other price risks arising from these financial
instruments except as otherwise disclosed.

Credit concentration

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to
discharge an obligation. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of
cash and accounts receivable. The Company holds its cash in reputable financial institutions and therefore believes the risk
of loss to be remote. The Company is exposed to credit risk from customer accounts receivable. The Company believes this
credit risk is minimized as the Company has a large and diverse customer base. A provision for impairment of accounts
receivable is established when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

10.

Financial instruments (Continued from previous page)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.
The Company is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its accounts payable and accrued liabilities, amounts due to
shareholders and amounts due to related parties. The Company generates sufficient cash flow from operating activities to
fund operations and fulfill obligations as they become due. Sufficient financing facilities are in place should cash
requirements exceed cash generated from operations.

10
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SaltWire Network Inc & The Halifax Herald Limited

COMBINED BALANCE SHEET

P12
23/P12
ASSETS
Cash 262,716
Accounts receivable 15,078,193
Inventory 316,849
Prepaids 434,203
Marketable securities -
16,091,960
Property, plant and equipment 12,027,876
Intangible assets 2,382,374
Goodwill 1,141,646
Future income taxes -
Accrued benefit asset -
Investment in significantly influenced entity -
Investment -
Due from shareholders 1,000
Due from related parties 718,825
TOTAL ASSETS 32,363,682
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accruals 13,125,441
Distributor and carrier payables (255,824)
Payroll and personnel payables 520,832
HST payable 4,984,981
Advanced payments 2,270,243
Current portion of LTD -
Current portion of deferred lease inducement -
20,645,672
Long-term debt 33,264,813
Vendor note 9,848,694
Deferred lease inducement 503,552
Accrued benefit obligation 16,423,166
Due to related parties 13,498,238
TOTAL LIABILITIES 94,184,135
Share capital 100,999

Retained earnings
EQUITY

(61,921,453)

(61,820,454)

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY

32,363,682




SaltWire Network Inc & The Halifax Herald Ltd

YTD Combined Income Statement

REVENUE

Members & Content
Print subscriptions
Print single copy
Digital subscriptions
Licensed content
Royalties

Advertising
Print display
Inserts
Notices and obituaries
Digital display
Programmatic
Contra, discounts and other

Services
SW commercial print
SW analytics
Door Direct
SW creative studio
SW media
Other services

Other
Headline sales fees
Management fees
Interest and miscellaneous

TOTAL REVENUE

Combined
YTD P12 2023

Actual Budget Variance %
15,561,870 18,404,443 (2,842,573) (15.4%)
3,860,270 3,877,935 (17,665) (0.5%)
1,883,833 2,456,000 (572,167) (23.3%)
539,159 433,200 105,959 24.5%
349,538 300,000 49,538 16.5%
22,194,671 25,471,578 (3,276,907) (12.9%)
6,924,623 7,994,968 (1,070,344) (13.4%)
11,176,954 13,022,191 (1,845,238) (14.2%)
4,150,125 5,436,018 (1,285,894) (23.7%)
1,723,537 2,102,821 (379,284) (18.0%)
484,219 949,911 (465,692) (49.0%)
(9,382) - (9,382) -
24,450,076 29,505,909 (5,055,833) (17.1%)
4,112,904 5,224,928 (1,112,024) (21.3%)
15,000 600,000 (585,000) (97.5%)
1,073 4,270,781 (4,269,708) (100.0%)
235,269 991,987 (756,717) (76.3%)
4,364,246 11,087,696 (6,723,450) (60.6%)
(131) 45,915 (46,046) (100.3%)
93,151 54,000 39,151 72.5%
295,652 50,400 245,252 486.6%
388,672 150,315 238,357 158.6%
51,397,666 66,215,498 (14,817,832) (22.4%)



EXPENSES

Door Direct expenses 79,554 3,736,933 (3,657,380) (97.9%)
Wages and benefits 20,102,439 22,550,672 (2,448,233) (10.9%)
CJLTC (2,400,100) (1,250,000) (1,150,100) 92.0%
Distribution and packaging supplies 14,422,219 15,589,844 (1,167,626) (7.5%)
Newsprint, paper, plates and ink 2,677,386 4,090,609 (1,413,222) (34.5%)
Occupancy 3,123,869 3,905,164 (781,295) (20.0%)
Advertising and promotion 1,933,769 2,906,208 (972,440) (33.5%)
Professional fees 1,193,389 1,968,345 (774,956) (39.4%)
Service contracts 1,437,787 1,655,799 (218,012) (13.2%)
Office and general 992,118 1,369,915 (377,797) (27.6%)
Content 803,804 1,183,404 (379,600) (32.1%)
Banking service charges 499,732 553,887 (54,155) (9.8%)
Vehicles, travel and meals 411,199 468,060 (56,860) (12.1%)
Repairs and maintenance 245,796 318,469 (72,673) (22.8%)
Bad debts 285,409 175,560 109,849 62.6%
Vehicle and equipment leases 124,996 176,302 (51,306) (29.1%)
Training 11,088 154,201 (143,113) (92.8%)
45,944 453 59,553,371 (13,608,918) (22.9%)
EBITDA 5,453,213 6,662,126 (1,208,914) (18.1%)
OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE
Interest expense 2,776,431 2,194,974 581,457 26.5%
Depreciation and amortization 2,723,387 2,864,304 (140,917) (4.9%)
Termination expense 838,760 625,634 213,126 34.1%
Pension (recovery) expense 426,112 480,000 (53,888) (11.2%)
Accounting (gains) losses (1,112,967) - (1,112,967) -
Accretion expense - - - -
CEWS and CERS - - - -
5,651,722 6,164,912 (513,190) (8.3%)

INCOME BEFORE TAX (198,510) 497,214 (695,724)  (139.9%)




Herald & SaltWire combined
YTD Statement of Cash Flows
P11 2023

Net income

Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortization
Leasehold inducement amortization
Pension expense (recovery)

Accrued benefit obligation - benefit payments

Accretion
Accounting gains and losses

Changes in NWC
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaids
Marketable securities
Accounts payable and accruals
Distributor and carrier payables
Payroll and personnel payables
HST payable
Advanced payments

Cash flow from operations

Investing
Additions to PP&E
Proceeds on disposal of PP&E
Intangible asset capitalizations

Financing
Net change in LTD
Net change in VTB

YEAR TO DATE
P12
(334,090)

2,723,387
(107,904)

(1,112,967)

1,168,425

(2,127,819)
363,019
55,587

(3,695,053)

(282,229)
156,595
5,223,175

(423,892)

(730,617)

437,809

(348,256)
1,612,000

(1,941,855)

(678,111)

(1,554,038)

Net change in related party balances 874,764
Cash flow from financing (679,274)
Total change in cash (919,577)
Opening cash 1,182,291
Closing cash 262,714
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Headline Promotional Products
Comparative Balance Sheet

As at 12/31/2023
ASSET

Current Assets

Petty Cash at Headline 310.00

$CDN Bank Account 14,139.90

Total Cash 14,449.90
Visa Receivable 0.00

MasterCard Receivable 0.00

Total Credit Card Receivables 0.00
Accounts Receivable 91,181.07

Subscriptions receivable 10.00

Total Receivable 91,191.07
Prepayments 376.71
GIC Investment 11,000.00
Prepaid Expenses 0.00
Total Current Assets 117,017.68
Inventory Assets

Inventory Warehouse 18,676.72
Inventory Branded Online Store 2,886.97
Inventory Samples 3,213.39
Inventory / In-Transit COS 13,350.85
Inventory Production 15,221.93
Inventory Hurricanes Store 4,830.69
Total Inventory Assets 58,180.55

Capital Assets

Fixed Asset 11,382.12

Accum. Depreciation Fixed Asset -11,382.12

Finance Agreement Embroidery 80,342.05

Accum. Depreciation Embroidery -80,342.05

Lease Brother GTX 38,755.00

Accum. Depreciation Brother -38,755.00

Net - Furniture & Equipment 0.00
Computer 1,854.47

Accum. Amort. - Computer -1,854.47

Net - Computer 0.00
Total Capital Assets 0.00
Other Assets

Goodwill 1.00
Total Other Assets 1.00

TOTAL ASSET 175,199.23



LIABILITY

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Other Payable

Accrued Liab - Employee Benefits
Accrued Wages

TD Visa Payable lan- 186133

TD Visa Payable Angela- 590856
GST/HST Charged on Sales
GST/HST Paid on Purchases
GST/HST Owing (Refund)
Prepaid Sales & Deposits

Total Current Liabilities

Long Term Liabilities

Accrued Liab Commision Payroll
Accrued Liab Fundraiser/Cust Payout
Due to Saltwire Network

Due to Titan

Due to Brace Capital Limited

Int Accrued on Loan from Brace Cap
Int Accrued on Loan from Titan Sec

Total Long Term Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITY

EQUITY

Owners Equity

Common Shares

Share Capital 1,000 Class RO-1 Pref
Contributed Surplus

Retained Earnings - Previous Year
Current Earnings

Total Owners Equity

TOTAL EQUITY

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

498,784.86
4,145.70
46,666.74
763.24
8,369.41
0.00
46,229.01
-48,846.84
-2,617.83
20,464.39
576,576.51

35,072.72
11,188.88
12,000.00
229,466.79
345,693.59
25,462.02
8,922.93
667,806.93

1,244,383.44

10.00

1.00
47,264.06
-813,133.92
-303,325.35
-1,069,184.21

-1,069,184.21

175,199.23



Headline Promotional Products
Comparative Income Statement

REVENUE

Sales Revenue

Revenue - Headline Promotional
Freight Revenue - Headline

Revenue - TCH /SW (was SW only)
Freight Revenue - TCH /SW (was SW)
Revenue - Online Stores

Freight Revenue - Online Stores
Online Store Payout/Fundraiser

Sales Discounts

Net Sales

Other Revenue
Interest Revenue
Miscellaneous Revenue

Total Other Revenue

TOTAL REVENUE

EXPENSE

Cost of Goods Sold

Purchases - Headline

Freight Expense Headline

Purchase Discounts

Purchases - TCH /SW (was SW only)
Freight Expense TCH /SW (was SW)
Purchases - Online Stores

Freight Expense Online

Production Supplies

Total Net Purchases

Production Error

Admin & Order Error

MPC Charges

Total Cost of Goods Sold

Payroll Expenses
Wages & Salaries
Wages Overtime
Sub-Contractors

Commissions Payroll

Jan to Dec 2023

611,407.22
36,277.24
98,873.99

5,413.01
79,079.57
1,377.33
-14,366.65
-0.54

818,061.17

10.55
4,936.37

4,946.92

823,008.09

391,124.82
30,409.27
-120.37
61,945.08
7,777.89
37,686.35
4,909.70
15,738.03

549,470.77
3,452.15
4,046.69
3,130.79

560,100.40

342,388.00
678.72
0.00
32,034.02



El Expense

CPP Expense
WCB Expense
Payworks Expense
Employee Benefits

Total Payroll Expense

General & Administrative Expenses

Management Fees
Accounting, Legal, Prof Fees
Advertising & Promotions
Bad Debts

Business Fees & Licenses
Cash Short/Over

Courier & Postage

Chase Charges

Currency Exchange & Rounding
Amortisation Expense
Donations

Sponsorship

Interest, Fees & Bank Charges
Office Supplies

Motor Vehicle Expenses
Miscellaneous Expenses
Headline Rent

Repair & Maintenance
Software

Telephone & Internet
Training

Travel & Parking

Entertainment & Meals

Total General & Admin. Expenses

TOTAL EXPENSE

NET INCOME

7,892.13
19,214.01
2,094.62
2,405.78
13,264.01

419,971.29

14,400.00
3,675.00
5,107.92

-366.64
744.35
-3.34
443.49
9,730.37
115.79
943.31
4,512.64
2,400.00

26,401.68

2,836.13
0.00
295.75

51,151.36
7,839.19

12,658.97
2,877.20

0.00
0.00
498.58

146,261.75

1,126,333.44

-303,325.35
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TITAN SECURITY & INVESTIGATION INC.
Comparative Balance Sheet

As at 12/31/2023
ASSET

Current Assets

Petty Cash 144.75

TD Bank-5420-5260481 162,380.38

Total Cash 162,525.13
Accounts Receivable 531,450.64

Other Receivable 60,318.50

Total Receivable 591,769.14
Prepaid Expenses 12,248.16
Deposits 6,000.00
GIC Investment 11,000.00
Loan to Headline 229,466.79
Loan to Saltwire 276,699.00
Loan to Chronicle 44,262.21
Acc. Interest on Loan to Headline 8,922.93
Inventory 10,517.42
Total Current Assets 1,353,410.78

Capital Assets

Furniture & Equipment 1,860.54
Accum. Amort. -Furn. & Equip. -1,860.54
Net - Furniture & Equipment 0.00
Vehicle 31,228.75
Accum. Amort. -Vehicle -9,368.64
Net - Vehicle 21,860.11
Computer 8,860.38
Accum. Amort - Computer -8,860.38
Net - Computer 0.00
Website 3,250.00
Accum. Amort - Website -2,437.50
Net - Website 812.50
Security Vests 272.00
Accum. Amort - Security Equipment -272.00
Net - Security Equipment 0.00
Total Capital Assets 22,672.61

TOTAL ASSET 1,376,083.39



LIABILITY

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Other Payable

Accrued Liab Payroll Benefits
Accrued Liabilities Payroll

TD Business Cash Back Visa- 853576
Federal Income Tax Payable
Total Receiver General
GST/HST Charged on Sales
GST/HST Paid on Purchases
GST/HST Adjustments
GST/HST Owing (Refund)
Deposits - Uniform

Total Current Liabilities

Long Term Liabilities
Investment from Brace

Vehicle Loan from Steele Hyndai
Loan from Brace Capital

Due from the Chronicle Herald
Loan to Saltwire

Total Long Term Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITY

EQUITY

Retained Earnings

Retained Earnings - Previous Year

Current Earnings

Total Retained Earnings

TOTAL EQUITY

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Generated On: 01/29/2024

0.00

137,495.33
-28,792.91
76,746.94

29,938.17
9,107.48
-2,435.13

0.00
964.79

0.00

185,449.36
10,190.99

233,215.66

25,000.00
23,431.22
-49,110.90
383,560.00
0.00

382,880.32

616,095.98

119,127.25
640,860.16

759,987 .41
759,987 .41

1,376,083.39



TITAN SECURITY & INVESTIGATION INC.

Comparative Income Statement

REVENUE

Sales Revenue

Static Security Services
Sitter Services

Event Security

Security Equipment Income
Net Sales

Other Revenue
Interest Revenue
Travel Reimbursement
Other Income

Total Other Revenue

TOTAL REVENUE

EXPENSE

Cost of Goods Sold

Trucking & Transport Other
Security Equipment Expense
Licence Fees

Software Fees

Subcontracts Events

Travel Reimbursement Guards
Total Cost of Goods Sold

Payroll Expenses
Wages Static Security
Wages Event Security
Wages Admin
Salaries Management
Sales Manager
Payroll Manager

El Expense

CPP Expense

WCB Expense
Employee Benefits
Commission Expense
Payroll Fees

Total Payroll Expense

Actual 01/01/2023 to 12/31/2023

1,699,620.89
2,035,292.88
55,389.01
3,861.00

3,794,163.78

10,079.06
0.00
0.00

10,079.06

3,804,242.84

16.76
5,621.69
1,077.51

20,880.50
2,160.00
2,000.00

31,756.46

2,172,559.42
45,038.53
54,285.27
143,051.95
29,304.55
26,942.52
56,384.49
131,027.40
101,005.56
9,137.31
0.00
9,798.63

2,778,535.63




General & Administrative Expenses

Management Fees 90,800.00
Audit & Legal 9,968.35
Advertising & Promotions 105.75
Marketing Expense 0.00
Bad Debts 0.00
Courier & Postage 134.77
Depreciation Expense 12,782.32
Insurance 17,173.86
Bank Charges & Fees 638.61
Interest & Penalties 1,046.42
Office Supplies 1,697.55
Auto- Finance Charges 1,091.66
Auto- Insurance 2,675.00
Auto - Fuel 13,623.52
Auto - Parking & Tolls 520.25
Auto - Milage 329.09
Auto - Other 1,711.91
Total Motor Vehicle 19,951.43
Miscellaneous Expenses 578.22
Realized Exchange Gain/Loss -80.16
Rent 178,400.00
Repair & Maintenance 1,187.98
Telephone 4,315.61
Meals & Entertainment 4,423.27
Travel - Other 0.00
Travel - Accomodation 0.00
Utilities 0.00
Uniforms 6,152.98
Cleaning Supplies 296.23
Training 1,799.95
Employee Learning 1,717.45
Corporate Taxes Expense 0.00
Total General & Admin. Expenses 353,090.59
TOTAL EXPENSE 3,163,382.68
NET INCOME 640,860.16

Generated On: 01/29/2024

Adjusted EBITDA 744,442 .48
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Brace Capital Limited
Comparative Income Statement

Actual 02/01/2023 to  Actual 02/01/2022 to

Actual 01/01/2023 to

Actual 01/01/2022 to

02/28/2023 02/28/2022 02/28/2023 02/28/2022

REVENUE

REVENUE

Interest Income 1,008.27 320.93 2,091.03 684.86
Customer Finance Charges 835.15 368.52 1,686.98 682.48
Miscellaneous Income 121.90 121.90 243.80 243.80
Management Fee Income 11,800.00 7,200.00 23,600.00 14,400.00
Lease Income 2,990.74 1,811.88 5,966.06 3,368.73
TOTAL INCOME 16,756.06 9,823.23 33,587.87 19,379.87
TOTAL REVENUE 16,756.06 9,823.23 33,587.87 19,379.87
TOTAL REVENUE 16,756.06 9,823.23 33,587.87 19,379.87
EXPENSE

EXPENSES

Management Fee 3,500.00 3,500.00 7,000.00 7,000.00
Depreciation Expense 4,157.83 1,972.83 8,761.13 3,909.83
Bank Charges and Interest 37.50 33.75 75.00 68.75
Interest Capital Lease 500.75 114.55 1,012.81 234.96
Dues And Subscriptions 31.32 44 .99 62.64 89.98
Insurance General 0.00 -1,746.91 0.00 -1,433.82
TOTAL EXPENSES 8,227.40 3,919.21 16,911.58 9,869.70
TOTAL EXPENSE 8,227.40 3,919.21 16,911.58 9,869.70
NET INCOME 8,528.66 5,904.02 16,676.29 9,510.17

Generated On: 03/13/2023



Brace Capital Limited
Comparative Balance Sheet

As at 02/28/2023

ASSET

CURRENT ASSETS

GIC Deposit 22,000.00

TD Bank - Brace Capital 5255585 3,281.63

Total: Cash 25,281.63
Titan Investment 124,662.60

Headline Investment 23,238.27

Total: Investments 147,900.87
Lease Receivable 136,386.70

Loan Headline Embroidery Machine 0.00

Loan to Headline Promotional 314,993.59

Loan to Titan 51,416.00

Accounts Receivable 65,633.99

Due from S. Dennis 100.00

Loan to SaltWire 25,000.00

Accounts Rec Other 11,770.77

Total: Accounts Receivable 605,301.05
Prepaid Expenses 62.63
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 778,546.18
CAPITAL ASSETS

Vehicles 85,736.63

2022 Chevrolet Equinox LT Blue 33,5631.65

2022 Chevrolet Equinox LT Black 35,362.50

2022 Chevrolet Equinox LT Red 33,062.50

Acc.Deprn. - Vehicles -71,911.81

Net Vehicles 115,781.47
TOTAL: Net Capital Assets 115,781.47
TOTAL ASSET 894,327.65
LIABILITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 91,813.01
Other Payable 5,028.84
Lease Payable 9,780.26
Lease Payable Chevrolet Equinox 92,605.54
Deferred Lease - GMC Savana Van 11,984.71
Deferred Revenue - Boiler 0.00

Deferred Lease - GMC Savana 2019 25,145.37

As at 02/28/2022

22,000.00
28,657.14

50,657.14
124,662.60
23,238.27

147,900.87
63,218.77
2,308.62
202,993.59
114,832.00
2,760.00
100.00
0.00
1,680.43

387,893.41

1,655.35

588,106.77
85,736.63
0.00
0.00
0.00
-25,100.83

60,635.80

60,635.80

648,742.57

45,185.36

10,288.84

28,876.88

0.00

18,953.20

1,272.00

34,810.80



Deferred Lease - Toyota Corola 2018
Def Lease - Chev Equinox 2022 Blue
Def Lease - Chev Equinox 2022 Black
Def Lease - Chev Equinox 2022 Red

Accrued Liability

Due to Halifax Herald
Total Accrued Liabilities
Income Tax Payable
Receiver General Payable
HST Paid On Purchases
HST Collected

HST Payable

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL LIABILITY

EQUITY

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Share Capital Class A Common

Total Capital
Retained Earnings
Current Earnings
Total: Equity

TOTAL EQUITY

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Generated On: 03/13/2023

6,397.25

30,630.78

32,147.47

30,033.30
0.00
600,000.00

600,000.00
0.00

0.00
-2,100.87
3,540.00

1,439.13

937,005.66

937,005.66

99.00

99.00
-59,453.30
16,676.29

-42,678.01
-42,678.01

894,327.65

9,454.77

0.00

0.00

0.00
2,544.00
600,000.00

602,544.00
5,142.00

5,142.00
-3,778.76
2,160.00

-1,618.76
754,909.09

754,909.09

99.00

99.00
-115,775.69
9,510.17
-106,166.52

-106,166.52

648,742.57
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Brace Holdings Limited
Comparative Income Statement

1101/01/2022 to 11/30/2022

REVENUE

TOTAL REVENUE

Actual 01/01/2021 to 11/30/2021

EXPENSE

General & Administrative Expenses
Professional Fees
Office

Total General & Admin. Expenses

TOTAL EXPENSE

NET INCOME

0.00 0.00
443.35 468.35
451.00 539.88
894.35 1,008.23
894.35 1,008.23
-894.35 -1,008.23

Generated On: 12/21/2022



Brace Holdings Limited
Comparative Balance Sheet

As at 11/30/2022 As at 11/30/2021
ASSET
Other Non-Current Assets
Investment in The Chronicle Herald 1,100.00 1,100.00
Investment in Saltwire 11.00 11.00
Investment in Headline 1.00 1.00
Investment in Brace 99.00 99.00
Due from S.Dennis Family Trust 5.00 5.00
Due from M.Lever Family Trust 5.00 5.00
Total Other Non-Current Assets 1,221.00 1,221.00
TOTAL ASSET 1,221.00 1,221.00
LIABILITY
Current Liabilities
Payable to Saltwire 10.00 10.00
Total Current Liabilities 10.00 10.00
Long Term Liabilities
Loan from The Chronicle Herald 45,158.13 41,013.78
Total Long Term Liabilities 45,158.13 41,013.78
TOTAL LIABILITY 45,168.13 41,023.78
EQUITY
Owners Equity
Class A Common Shares 5.00 5.00
Class B Common Shares 5.00 5.00
Class EF-1 Pref Shares 1,101.00 1,101.00
Class RO-1 Pref Shares 100.00 100.00
Retained Earnings - Previous Year -44,263.78 -40,005.55
Current Earnings -894.35 -1,008.23
Total Owners Equity -43,947.13 -39,802.78
TOTAL EQUITY -43,947.13 -39,802.78
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,221.00 1,221.00
Generated On: 12/21/2022
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LOAN AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT made as of the 19" day of July, 2012.
BETWEEN:
THE HALIFAX HERALD LIMITED
(the "Borrower")
OF THE FIRST PART
AND:

G.W.D. INVESTMENTS LIMITED ("GWD")

BRACE CAPITAL LTD. ("Brace")

BOUNTY PRINT LIMITED ("Bounty")

BRACE PROPERTIES LIMITED ("Brace Properties")
BRACE PUBLISHING LIMITED ("Brace Publishing")

(each individually called a "Guarantor" and collectively called the
"Guarantors")

OF THE SECOND PART
AN D:

INTEGRATED PRIVATE DEBT FUND Ill LP, by its sole general partner
INTEGRATED PRIVATE DEBT FUND GP INC.

(the "Lender")
OF THE THIRD PART

WHEREAS the Lender has agreed to establish term loan credit facilities for the
Borrower, and the Borrower has agreed to avail itself of such term loan credit facilities, on the
terms and conditions as set out in this Agreement;

AND WHEREAS the Guarantors, each an affiliate of the Borrower, have agreed
to guarantee the obligations of the Borrower to the Lender in relation to such term loan facility,
on the terms and conditions specified in this Agreement, and in the guarantees provided in
connection therewith;

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH that in consideration of
the covenants and agreements herein contained, and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto
covenant and agree as follows:



ARTICLE 1.00 - MISCELLANEOUS

1.1 Formal Date

For the purpose of convenience this Agreement may be referred to as bearing
the formal date of the 19" day of July, 2012, irrespective of the actual date of execution thereof.

12 Definitions

For the purposes of this Agreement, unless there is something in the subject
matter or context inconsistent therewith, the following terms shall have the following meanings
and words defined elsewhere in this Agreement shall have the meaning ascribed to them
therein:

(a) "Accelerated Amounts"” means the premium set forth in section 3.10;

(b) "Advances" means collectively all those advances of monies made by the Lender to
the Borrower under this Agreement and "Advance" means any one of such
Advances;

(c) "affiliate” shall have the meaning attributed to that term in the Canada Business
Corporations Act and "affiliated" shall have like meaning;

(d) "Applicable Canada Bond" means with respect to a prepayment of an Advance the
non-callable Government of Canada bond denominated in Cdn. currency
determined by the Lender as having a remaining term to maturity closest to the
remaining term to maturity of the Advance in respect of which the prepayment is
to be made;

(e) "Applicable Canada Bond Yield" means with respect to the prepayment of an
Advance, the arithmetic average (rounded to the nearest 1/100th of 1%) of the
respective percentages reasonably determined by the Lender, calculated in
accordance with the generaily accepted financial practices, assuming semi-
annual compounding, to be the yield to maturity, expressed as an annual rate of
interest, on the Applicable Canada Bond on the 3" Business Day preceding the
date of such prepayment;

(f) "associate" shall have the meaning attributed to that term in the Securities Act
(Nova Scotia) and "associated" shall have like meaning;

(g) "Business Day" means a day other than Saturday, Sunday or a statutory holiday in
the Provinces of Nova Scotia or Ontario, or any other day upon which the Lender
is not open for the transaction of business throughout normal business hours, at
its principal office, in the City of Toronto;

(h) "Change in Control" means any one of the following: (i) the Borrower ceases to be
a wholly-owned subsidiary of GWD; (ii) either of GWD or Brace cease to be
directly or indirectly wholly-owned by Sarah Dennis or her lineal descendents; (iii)
any of Bounty, Brace Properties or Brace Publishing cease to be wholly owned
by Brace; or (iv) there is a material change in the directors or senior executive



officers of any Obligor, and such persons are not replaced by a person or
persons acceptable to the Lender;

(i) "Closing™ means the date of first Advance after satisfaction of all conditions
precedent, delivery of this Agreement and the Security;

(j) "Closing Costs™ means all costs and expenses of the Borrower, Guarantors and the
Lender, including but not limited to professional fees and disbursements,
incurred in relation to the closing of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement;

(k) "Control" and "Controlled" shall have the same meaning as defined in the Canada
Business Corporations Act, and "Controlling" shall have a comparable
meaning;

() "Corporate Distribution” means:

0] the purchase, redemption or retirement, by the Borrower or any Guarantor of any
interest in its capital;

(i) the payment by the Borrower or any Guarantor of any management fee,
consulting fee, dividend, bonus or any other payment or distribution to
unitholders, shareholders, directors, officers or other related persons other than
regular and customary payments of compensation for employment services in
the ordinary course of business, all in accordance with usual past practice; and

iii) any payment by the Borrower or any Guarantor on account of: (1) any principal
or interest on any loans or advances owing at any time to shareholders,
directors, officers or other related person; and (2) any subordinated loans,
except for payments permitted by agreement with the Lender;

(m) "Debt" means (i) all indebtedness of such person for borrowed money, including
borrowings by way of bankers' acceptances or letters of credit and contingent
reimbursement obligations including letters of guarantee and the maximum
amount of all such Debt which is directly or indirectly guaranteed by such person
(contingently or otherwise) (eliminating from such calculation where it is
duplicative of another person's debt, any guarantee by such person of another
person's obligations); (ii) preferred shares classified as debt according to GAAP;
(iii) obligations issued or assumed in connection with the acquisition of property
in respect of the deferred purchase price of such property; (iv) capital lease
obligations and obligations secured by Purchase Money Mortgages; and (v)
contingent liabilities in respect of borrowed money and excluding, in any event
(a) trade accounts payable, current taxes payable, dividends payable and
accrued interest payable, (b) future taxes, (c) asset retirement obligations, and
(d) derivative (negative value) financial instruments;

(n) "Default” means an event which, with the giving of notice or the passage of time or
the making of any determination or any combination thereof for herein could
become an Event of Default;



(o) "EBITDA" means earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. For
the purposes of this Agreement, EBITDA does not include such non-cash items
as the non-cash portion of current pension expenses, stock based
compensation, loss/gain on disposal of assets and/or any one time/non-recurring
items. For greater certainty, EBITDA does not include solvency payments
required to be made by the Borrower pursuant to the Pension Act (Nova Scotia);

(p) "Environmental Laws™ means all applicable laws, by-laws, regulations relating in
full or in part to the protection of the natural environment, including the storage,
use, generation, handling, manufacturing, processing, treatment, release and
disposal of "hazardous substances", "contaminants" and "industrial waste" as
defined in all applicable environmental protection legislation and specifically
means and includes all applicable federal, state, provincial or local laws,
statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances and codes, together with all
administrative orders, directed duties, licenses, authorizations and permits of,
and agreements with, any Governmental Authorities, in each case relating to
environmental, health, safety and land use matters; including, without limitation,
all applicable Canadian, federal, provincial, municipal, or local laws, statutes or
by-laws or ordinances relating to the environment, occupational safety, health,
product liability, and transportation, including, without limitation, the following: the
Environment Act R.S.N.S 1994-95, c. 1, s. 1, the Canadian_ Environmental
Protection Act, S.C. 1988, c. 22, and any other applicable laws, in each case as
amended from time to time;

(q) "Event of Default” means any of the events described in Section 6.1;

(r) "generally accepted accounting principles” ("GAAP") means the accounting
principles recommended by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants as
provided in the "CICA Handbook", as the same may be amended, replaced or
restated from time to time, being as to the Borrower and Guarantors, the elected
accounting standards for private enterprises;

(s) "Government of Canada Bond Yield" means as the Applicable Canada Bond Yield
is defined at the stated time of determination.

(t) "Governmental Authority”" means (i) any government or political subdivision thereof
national, provincial, county, municipal or regional having jurisdiction in the
relevant circumstances; (i) any agency or instrumentality of any such
government, political subdivision or other government entity (including any
central bank or comparable agency); (iii) any court, arbitral tribunal or arbitrator;
and (iv) any non-government regulating body, to the extent that the rules,
regulations or orders of such body have the force of law;

(u) "Guarantees" means the agreement of guarantee provided by each Guarantor to
the Lender with regard to the obligations of the Borrower under, inter alia, this
Agreement;

(v) "Guarantor" means each of those persons executing this Agreement in that
capacity;

(w) "Indebtedness” means and includes all principal, interest, interest on overdue
interest and premium, costs and expenses payable by the Borrower pursuant to



the provisions of this Agreement and the Security, from time to time outstanding,
and all other monies for the time being and from time to time owing by the
Borrower to the Lender;

(x) "Interest Rate Differential™ means the premium equal to the difference between (i)
the present value of the Loan interest and the principal payments which are
foregone, discounted at the Applicable Canada Bond Yield, (on a compounded
monthly equivalent basis, as determined by the Lender) plus 50 basis points, for
the term from the date of prepayment to the date of original maturity; and (ii) the
face value of the principal amount being prepaid at the date of prepayment;

(y) "Lien™ means any mortgage, pledge, security interest, encumbrance, transfer or
other restriction, lien or charge of any kind or any other priority arrangement
(including any agreement to give any of the foregoing, any conditional sale or
other title retention agreement or any lease in the nature thereof), or any other
arrangement pursuant to which title to the Property is retained by or vested in
some other person for security purposes;

(z) "Loan" means the loan in the initial principal amount advanced under Section 3.1
hereof pursuant to this Agreement and any additions or accruals thereto;

(aa) "Loan Documents" means this Agreement and the Security;

(bb) "Maintenance CAPEX" means all capital expenditures for the maintenance of
assets of the Borrower necessary for the ongoing operations of the Borrower's
business excluding major capital upgrades to the presses;

(cc) "Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on: (a) the business,
operations, or property or financial or other condition of a person which would
negatively affect the ability of that person to perform and discharge its
obligations under this Agreement or any of the Security in a material way, (b) the
collateral covered by the Security, the Lender's liens on such collateral or the
priority of such liens, or (c) the Lender's ability to enforce its rights or remedies
under this Agreement or any of the Security, in each case as determined by the
Lender, acting reasonably;

(dd) "Material Contracts" means, with respect to any person, all contracts, the breach
or default of which would result in a Material Adverse Effect and, when used in
relation to any person, the term "Material Contracts" shall mean and refer to
Material Contracts to which such person is a party or by which it is bound or may
hereafter become a party or be bound and "Material Contract" means any one
thereof:

(ee) "Material Licences" means, collectively, any licence, permit or approval issued by
any Governmental Authority to any person, and which is at any time on or after
the date of this Agreement, necessary or material to the business and operations
of such person, the breach or default of which would result in a Material Adverse
Effect;

(ff) “Maturity Date” means July 19, 2022;



(g9) "Mortgaged Property” means and includes all the undertaking, property and
assets of the Borrower and the Guarantors which is subject to the Security;

(hh) "Obligors" means, collectively, the Borrower and the Guarantors;

(if) "Operating Line Debt" means the operating line revolving facility of no more than
Four Million Dollars provided to the Borrower by the Borrower's bankers upon
terms and conditions reasonably satisfactory to the Lender;

(i) "Permitted Encumbrances™ means any one or more of the following:

(i) Liens for taxes, assessments, governmental charges or levies not at the
time due and delinquent, or the validity of which is being contested by the
Borrower in good faith and by proper legal proceedings which effectively
postpone enforcement of any such lien;

(i) The lien of any judgment rendered or claim filed against the Borrower
which the Borrower shall be contesting in good faith by proper legal
proceedings, and provided such proceedings effectively postpone
enforcement of any such lien;

(iii) The reservations, limitations, provisos and conditions, if any, expressed in
any original grants from the Crown, registered or recorded easements, or
statutory exceptions to title, which do not, in the opinion of counsel for the
Lender, impair the use or materially affect the marketability of the
property;

(iv) Liens or rights of distress reserved in, or exercisable under, any lease
(other than capital leases) for rent, or for compliance with the terms of
such lease;

(v) Inchoate or statutory liens of contractors, subcontractors, mechanics,
workers, suppliers, materialmen, carriers and others in respect of
construction, maintenance, repair or operation of assets of the Borrower
provided that such liens are related to obligations not due or delinquent
are not registered against title to any assets of the Borrower and in
respect of which adequate holdbacks are being maintained as required
by applicable law or such liens are being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings and in respect of which there has been set aside
a reserve (segregated to the extent required by GAAP) in an adequate
amount and provided further that such liens do not, in the Lender’s
reasonable opinion materially reduce the value of the assets of the
Borrower or materially interfere with the use of such assets in the
operation of the business of the Borrower;

(vi) Easements, rights-of-way, servitudes, restrictions and similar rights in
real property comprised in the assets of the Borrower or interests therein
granted or reserved to other persons, provided that such rights do not, in
the Lender’'s reasonable opinion, reduce the value of the assets of the
Borrower or materially interfere with the use of such assets in the
operation of the business of the Borrower;



(vii)  Title defects or irregularities which are of a minor nature and which, in the
Lender’s reasonable opinion, do not reduce the value of the assets of the
Borrower or materially interfere with their use in the operation of the
business of the Borrower;

(viii)  Liens securing appeal bonds and other similar liens arising in connection
with court proceedings (including, without limitation, surety bonds,
security for costs of litigation where required by law and letters of credit)
or any other instruments serving a similar purpose;

(ix) Liens given to a public utility or any municipality or governmental or other
public authority when required by such utility or other authority in
connection with the operation of the business or the ownership of the
assets of the Borrower, provided that such Liens do not, in the Lender’s
reasonable opinion, reduce the value of the assets of the Borrower or
materially interfere with their use in the operation of the business of the
Borrower;

(x) Servicing agreements, development agreements, site plan agreements,
and other agreements with Governmental Authorities pertaining to the
use or development of any of the assets of the Borrower, provided same
are complied with and do not, in the Lender’s reasonable opinion, reduce
the value of the assets of the Borrower or materially interfere with their
use in the operation of the business of the Borrower including, without
limitation, any obligations to deliver letters of credit and other security as
required;

(xi) Applicable municipal and other governmental restrictions, including
municipal by-laws and reguiations, affecting the use of land or the nature
of any structures which may be erected thereon, provided such
restrictions have been complied with and do not, in the Lender’s opinion,
reduce the value of the assets of the Borrower or materially interfere with
their use in the operation of the business of the Borrower;

(xiiy  The right reserved to or vested in any Governmental Authority by any
statutory provision or by the terms of any lease, licence, franchise, grant
or permit of the Borrower, to terminate any such lease, licence, franchise,
grant or permit, or to require annual or other payments as a condition to
the continuance thereof;

(xiii)  Liens in favour of the Lender created by the Security;

(xiv) Liens granted to third party lenders in connection with permitted
additional Debt pursuant to Section 5.2(i) herein;

(xv)  Purchase Money Mortgages; and
(xvi)  Security interests listed in Schedule "A" hereto;

(kk) "Permitted Indebtedness" means that indebtedness listed as such in Schedule
"A" (including any renewal or replacement thereof);



(Il) "person” includes an individual, a partnership, a joint venture, a trust, an
unincorporated organization or any other association, a corporation and a
government or any department or agency thereof;

(mm) "Plant Capital Expenditures"” means capital expenditures of the Borrower
relating to the upgrades being undertaken to the press equipment located at the
facilities located at 311 Bluewater Road, Halifax, Nova Scotia;

(nn) "Property” means all types of real, personal or mixed property and all types of
tangible or intangible property;

(oo) "Purchase Money Mortgages™ means any security interest charging property
acquired, which is granted or assumed or which arises by operation of law in
favour of the transferor concurrently with and for the purpose of the acquisition of
such property, in each case where (i) the principal amount secured by the
security interest is not in excess of the purchase price (after any post-closing
adjustment) of the property acquired, and (ii) such security interest extends only
to the property acquired and its proceeds, including capital leases;

(pp) "Real Property" means the lands described in Schedule "B" attached hereto;

(qq) "Security" means the Security Agreements, the Guarantees, assignments and any
other instrument or agreement which purports to secure the Indebtedness
provided in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and as listed in
Schedule "D";

(rr) "Security Agreements"” means the general security agreement and the mortgage
issued by the Borrower to the Lender;

(ss) "Senior Long Term Debt" means the Loan advanced to the Borrower pursuant to
this Agreement;

(tt) "Subsidiary" of a person means (a) any corporation of which the person and/or any
one of its affiliates (as defined in the Canada Business Corporations Act) holds,
directly or indirectly, other than by way of security only, securities to which are
attached more than 50% of the votes that may be cast to elect directors of such
corporation, (b) any corporation of which the person and/or any one of its
affiliates has, through operation of law or otherwise, the ability to elect or cause
the election of a majority of the directors of such corporation, (c) any partnership,
limited liability company, unlimited liability company or joint venture in which such
person and/or one or more of its affiliates has, directly or indirectly, more than
50% of the votes that may be cast to elect the governing body of such entity or
otherwise Control its activity, and (d) any partnership, limited liability company,
unlimited liability company or joint venture in which such person and/or one or
more of its affiliates has, through operation of law or otherwise, the ability to elect
or cause the election of a majority of the members of the governing body of such
entity or otherwise Controt its activity; and

(uu) "this Agreement”, "hereto", "herein", "hereof”, "hereby", "hereunder" and
similar expressions refer to this Loan Agreement and not to any particular
section or other portion hereof, and include any and every instrument
supplemental or ancillary hereto, or in implement hereof, and the expressions



"article" or "section" followed by a number mean and refer to the specified
article or section of this Agreement.

1.3 Plurality and Gender, etc.

Words importing the singular number shall include the plural and vice versa, and
words importing the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender.

14 Headings

The Article and section headings are not to be considered part of this
Agreement, are inserted for convenience of reference only, are not intended to be full or
accurate descriptions of the content thereof, and shall not affect the construction or
interpretation of this Agreement.

1.8 Law Applicable
This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the Province

of Nova Scotia and the laws of Canada applicable therein and shall be treated in all respects as
a Nova Scotia contract.

1.6 Currency

All dollar amounts referred to in this Agreement, and all payments to be made
hereunder, are in Canadian Dollars. All dollar amounts referred to in this Agreement are
expressed in Canadian Dollars.

1.7 Entire Agreement

This Agreement, including the schedules hereto, the Security, and any
agreement collateral hereto or thereto constitutes the entire agreement between the parties,
and may not be amended or modified in any respect except by written instrument signed by the
parties hereto, and all other agreements, undertakings, representations and writings, oral or
written, are entirely replaced thereby and are no longer effective.

1.8 Successor Legislation

Any statute referred to herein or in the Security shall be deemed to include that
statute as amended, restated and/or replaced from time to time, and any successor legislation
to the same general intent and effect.

1.9 Assignment

This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of, and shall be binding upon, the
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. This Agreement may be
assigned by the Lender prior to Default with the prior written consent of the Borrower and after
Default without consent, in which event the Borrower and the Guarantor shall attorn in all
respects to such assignment and the assignee thereof. Neither the Borrower nor any
Guarantor may assign this Agreement without the consent of the Lender.
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1.10 Business Day

If under the provisions of this Agreement any amount is to be paid or any act or
thing is to be done or step is to be taken on a day other than a Business Day, then such
amount shall be paid or such act, thing or step shall be done or taken on the next Business
Day.

1.11 Severability

In the event that any one or more provisions contained in this Agreement, the
Security, or any other agreement required hereunder to be delivered to the Lender, shali be
invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable law, the validity, legality and
enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof or of the security shall not be affected or
impaired thereby. The Parties shall engage in good faith discussions to replace any provision
that is deemed to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable with a valid, legal and enforceable
provision, the economic effect of which comes as close as possible to that of the invalid, illegal
or unenforceable provision.

1.12 Application of GAAP

All financial statements herein shall, unless otherwise provided, be interpreted in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied, on a
consolidated basis, pursuant to the elected accounting standards for private enterprises.

All financial terms employed and calculations provided for herein shall, uniess
otherwise specifically provided, be interpreted and applied in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis, and applicable on both a
consolidated, or combined, if appropriate, and unconsolidated basis, pursuant to the elected
accounting standards for private enterprises.

1.13 Execution
This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which

when so executed shall constitute an original and all of which together shall constitute one and
the same Agreement.

1.14 Schedules

The following schedules are incorporated herein and form part of this
Agreement.

Schedule "A" - Permitted Encumbrances and Permitted Indebtedness

Schedule "B" - Location of Assets and Chief Executive Offices

Schedule "C" - Corporate Chart

Schedule "D" - List of Security Agreements

Schedule "E" - Contingent Liabilities

Schedule "F" - Material Contracts, Pension and Benefit Plans

Schedule "G" - Material Licences

Schedule "H" - Loan Repayment Schedule
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Conflict

In the event of any conflict between any term, condition or provision of this

Agreement and those of the Security, or of any other agreement to be delivered to the Lender
hereunder, then the term, condition or provision of this Agreement shall govern.

ARTICLE 2.00 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

2.1

Representations and Warranties

The Borrower, and each Guarantor jointly and severally represents and warrants

to the Lender, and acknowledges that the Lender is relying on such representations and
warranties in entering into this Agreement and in making Advances hereunder, as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Status

If a corporation, it has been duly incorporated or created and organized and is a
validly existing corporation, under the laws of its governing jurisdiction, and has
full capacity and power to carry on its business as presently conducted and to
own or lease property and holds all necessary material licences, permits and
consents to carry on such business in all jurisdictions in which it does so, all of
which, in the case of the Borrower, is outlined in Schedule "B" hereto;

If a limited partnership it is a duly formed and validly existing limited partnership
and its general partners have the corporate authority and power to own and
lease its property and to carry on its business as presently constituted, and each
general partner thereof is a corporation, it has been duly incorporated or created
and organized and is a validly existing corporation, under the laws of its
governing jurisdiction, and has full capacity and power to carry on its business as
presently conducted and to own or lease property and holds all necessary
material licences, permits and consents to carry on such business in all
jurisdictions in which it does so, all of which is outlined in Schedule "B" hereto;

Power and Authority

It has the power to enter into, execute, deliver and perform this Agreement and
the Security and, in the case of the Borrower, is duly authorized to borrow the
monies herein contemplated;

Non-Violation of Other Instruments and Authorization

0] The borrowing of money by the Borrower, the entering into and
performance of this Agreement, the Security and any other agreement
collateral hereto or thereto by the Borrower and each Guarantor, and the
issue of the Security to which it is a party to be given hereunder does not
conflict, and will not conflict with, and does not result, and will not result
with the passage of time or otherwise, in a breach or violation of, or
constitute a default under, its articles of incorporation or its by-laws, or
any of the covenants or the provisions contained in any agreement to
which it is a party, or by which it or its assets are subject; and
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(i) All necessary steps and proceedings have been taken, and all consents
have been obtained to authorize the entering into, delivery and
performance of this Agreement and to create and authorize the issuance,
delivery and performance of the Security;

Valid Security

This Agreement and the Security create in favour of the Lender, as applicable,
valid and binding and perfected obligations of it, to the extent it is a party thereto
on all of its respective right, title and interest in and to all of the collateral which is
the subject matter of the Security enforceable against it in accordance with their
respective terms subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and other similar
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and to equitable
remedies that may be granted only in the discretion of a court of competent
jurisdiction;

Title to Assets and Property

It has good and marketable title to the Property owned by it, free and clear of
encumbrances or security interests except for Permitted Encumbrances and no
person has any agreement or right to acquire such Property out of the ordinary
course of business;

No Default

Other than as to matters waived in writing by the Lender, it is not in default in the
performance or observance of any of the obligations, covenants or conditions
contained in any Material Contract or other instrument to which it is a party or by
which it is bound;

Financial Condition

Since the date of the audited financial statements of the Borrower and the
unaudited financial statements of the Guarantors, dated as at June 30, 2012,
there has occurred no Material Adverse Effect affecting the Borrower or
Guarantors' business or financial condition;

Financial Information

All balance sheets, earnings statements and other financial data of the Borrower
and Guarantors which have been delivered to the Lender are true and correct in
all material respects as of the respective dates thereof, have been prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied,
and do fairly present the financial position and condition of the Borrower and
Guarantors as of the respective dates thereof, and all other information,
certificates, schedules, reports and other papers and data which have been
furnished by the Borrower to the Agent or the Lender, as applicable, are
complete, accurate and correct in all material respects at the time the same were
furnished subject, in the case of interim statements, to usual year end
adjustments;
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No Actions

There are no actions, suits, judicial or arbitral proceedings pending or to its
knowledge threatened against it in any court or before any other authority which
could reasonably be expected to result in any material adverse change in its
business or financial condition, or which could reasonably be expected to
materially adversely affect the ownership, status or use of the Mortgaged
Property;

Judgments and Executions

As at the date hereof, there are no judgments or executions filed or pending
against it;

Insolvency Proceedings

It has not made any assignment for the benefit of creditors, nor has any
receiving order been made against it under the provisions of the Bankruptcy and
Insolvency Act, nor has any petition for such an order been served upon it, nor
are there any proceedings in effect or threatened under the provisions of the
Winding-Up and Restructuring Act (Canada) or the Companies' Creditors
Arrangement Act (Canada), nor has any receiver, receiver and manager,
monitor, custodian or official with similar powers been appointed by court order
or privately respecting it or any of its assets or property; nor has it committed an
act of bankruptcy; taken advantage of any act for bankrupt or insolvent debtors;
filed a notice of intention to make a proposal or a proposal under the Bankruptcy
and Insolvency Act (Canada); proposed a compromise or arrangement of its
creditors generally, made any assignment for the benefit of creditors, taken any
proceedings with respect to a compromise or arrangement, nor to have a
receiver appointed over any part of its assets or property;

Leases

It is in good standing under all leases to which it is a party, and no right currently
exists in any lessor or lessee thereunder to terminate any such lease, and each
such lease is its valid and binding obligation;

Taxation Procedures

Other than as accepted in writing by the Lender, it has duly and timely filed all
tax returns required to be filed by it, and it has paid all taxes which are due and
payable, and has paid all assessments and reassessments, and all other taxes,
penalties, interest and fines claimed against it which are due or payable by it on
or before the date due and payable other than those: (i) in respect of which
liability based on such returns is being contested in good faith and by appropriate
proceedings where adequate reserves have been established in accordance with
GAAP; and (ii) the effect of such proceedings is to stay any lien, charge or
seizure of property. Adequate provision and installment payments have been
made for taxes and governmental royalties payable for the current period for
which returns are not yet required to be filed. Except as disclosed in writing to
the Lender, as at the date hereof there are no agreements, waivers or other
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arrangements providing for an extension of time with respect to the filing of any
tax return, or payment of any taxes, or deficiency;

Employee Payments

It has withheld from each payment to any of its officers, directors and employees
the amount of all taxes, including but not limited to, income tax and other
deductions required to be withheld therefrom, and has paid the same to the
proper tax or other receiving officers within the time required under any
applicable tax legislation. Except as waived in writing by the Lender, it is not
subject to any claim by its employees arising from salary or benefits which have
not been paid when due, all such salary and benefits being paid to date, except
where such claims would not have a Material Adverse Effect on it;

Ownership or Licence

It owns or licenses all licences, permits, authorities, patents, industrial designs,
trade-marks, trade secrets, know-how, environmental technology, biotechnology,
confidential information, trade-names, goodwill, copyrights, integrated circuit
topographies, software and all other forms of intellectual and industrial property,
and any registrations and applications for registration of any of the foregoing
(collectively, the "Intellectual Property"), necessary for the conduct of its
business and all such licenses are in good standings;

Subsidiaries

The corporate chart appended hereto as Schedule "C" is true and correct on
the date hereof.

Contingent Liabilities and Debt.

The Borrower has disclosed to the Lender all contingent liabilities as at the date
hereof, and as at the date hereof it has not incurred any Debt which is not
disclosed on or reflected in the financial statements provided to the Lender, other
than Debt or contingent liabilities incurred by it or credit extended to it in the
ordinary course of business after the date of such financial statements.

Location of Assets, Places of Business.

The location of all of its tangible and intangible property and assets and places of
business is set out in Schedule "B". Its registered and chief executive offices
are set out in Schedule "B".

No Default or Event of Default

Except as waived in writing by the Lender, there exists no Default or Event of
Default.

Compliance

It is in compliance with its constating documents and is in compliance in all
material respects with all applicable laws, including health, safety and
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employment standards, transportation, customs, labour codes and
Environmental Laws.

Canadian Pension and Benefit Plans

All of its material obligations (including fiduciary, funding, investment and
administration obligations) required to be performed in connection with its
pension plans and the funding agreements therefor have been performed in a
timely fashion. There have been no improper withdrawals or applications of the
assets of its pension plans or its benefit plans. There is no proceeding, action,
suit or claim (other than routine claims for benefits) pending or threatened
involving its pension plans or its benefit plans, and no facts exist which could
reasonably be expected to give rise to that type of proceeding, action, suit or
claim which would have a Material Adverse Effect on its business or financial
status. Save and except for as set out in Schedule "F", any pension plan is fully
funded both on an ongoing basis and on a winding-up basis (using actuarial
methods and assumptions which are consistent with the valuations last filed with
the applicable Governmental Authorities and which are consistent with GAAP).
The Borrower and Guarantors do not have any pension or benefit plans other
than Canadian pension plans and Canadian benefit plans, as listed in Schedule
"F".

Labour Matters

Except as acknowledged in writing by the Lender, there are no strikes or other
labour disputes against it that are pending or, to its knowledge, threatened, other
than employee instituted decertification processes. All payment except those
which would not have a Material Adverse Effect on its business or financial status
due from it on account of employee insurance and vacation pay have been paid
or accrued as a liability on its books. It is in material compliance with the terms
and conditions of any collective agreements, consulting agreements,
management agreements and employment agreements.

General Environmental Representations

As of the date hereof:

® except as acknowledged in writing by the Lender, it is not aware of any
environmental problem or potential problem which would have a Material
Adverse Effect on it or any of its assets;

(i) there is no action or other proceeding which has been commenced
against it or any of its assets with respect to any breach of Environmental
Laws;

(iii) it has not used any of its Real Property, to manufacture, store or
otherwise deal with any contaminants, pollutants, dangerous or toxic
substances, liquid wastes or other hazardous substances except in
material compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws, and it has
complied with all federal, provincial and municipal orders, regulations and
by-laws relating to environmental matters; and

(iv) There have been no "release" of "contaminants", as those terms are
defined in the Environment Act R.S.N.S. 1994-95, c. 1, s. 1, for which it is
responsible either as the "owner of the pollutant”, or "person having
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control of a pollutant”" as those terms are defined in the Environment Act
R.S.N.S. 1994-95,¢c. 1, s. 1.

The Borrower and each Guarantor specifically jointly and severally represents

and warrants to the Lender, and acknowledges that the Lender is relying on such
representations and warranties in entering into this Agreement and in making Advances
hereunder, as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(f)

Expropriation and Work Order

No part of the Real Property has been condemned, taken or expropriated by any
provincial, municipal or any other competent authority, and no alteration, repair,
improvement or other work has been ordered or directed to be done, or
performed to, or in respect of, the Real Property;

Buildings as Shown by Survey

There have been no additions or alterations to the buildings located on the Real
Property except as indicated on the surveys delivered to the Lender,

Unrecorded Title Defects

There are no liens, easements, charges, encroachments, rights-of-way,
mortgages, work orders, licenses, deed restrictions, leases, tenancies or
agreements affecting the Real Property except as disclosed by the registered
title;

Utility Arrears

There is nothing owing in respect of the Real Property to any municipality, or to
any other corporation or commission owning or operating a public utility for
water, gas, electrical power, energy, steam or hot water, or for the use thereof,
or for the equipment used in connection therewith;

Building L.ocation

The buildings on the Real Property are entirely within the limits of the Real
Property and as shown on the surveys delivered to the Lender;

Waste Disposal Site

At no time since the applicable Obligor has owned the Real Property, and to the
knowledge of the Obligors, at no time prior thereto, has the Real Property or any
lands adjacent thereto ever been used for the purpose of a waste disposal site;
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